
Community Safety Partnership

Date and Time: Wednesday, 29 June 2022, 10:00 am - 1:00 pm
Venue: Meeting to be held virtually via MS Teams

A G E N D A

Presented
by

Pages

1. Introductions and Apologies for Absence

2. Declaration of Interests

Members of the Board are asked to declare 
any personal or prejudicial interest they may 
have in any matter which is to be considered 
at this meeting.

3. Minutes - To confirm the minutes of the 
meeting held on 8 December 2021

Chair 1 - 9

4. Policing and Crime Plan 2021-2025 James 
Bottomley

11 - 22

5. Street Space - Station Activation Findings Sophie 
Hardcastle / 
Tegan Mills

23 - 49

6. Rescue and Response Assessment Edi Abdi 51 - 128

7. National Referral Mechanism (NRM) Update Angie Fuller 129 - 138

8. RESTRICTED: Domestic Violence Update Angela D’urso 139 - 154

9. RESTRICTED; Crime and Disorder Strategic 
Assessment Plan

Daniel James 155 - 208

10. RESTRICTED: Youth Safety Summit 
Findings

Erik Stein 209 - 236

11. Standing items (Verbal Updates)

(a) VRU Capacity Building Fund 



(b) Safe Haven Update 

12. Forward Plan 237 - 241

(a) RESTRICTED: Performance Report 243

Subgroup Update Reports 

(b) Children and Young People 245 - 251

(c) Hate, Intolerance and Extremism and 
Tension Monitoring 

253 - 254

(d) IVOLT 255 - 259

(e) RESTRICTED: Managing Offenders 261 - 262

(f) RESTRICTED: Safer Neighbourhood 
Board Update 

263

(g) RESTRICTED: Safeguarding Boards 
Update Report 

265 - 266

14. Any Other Business Chair

15. Date of Next Meeting Chair

Wednesday 28 September 2022, 10.00am - 
1.00pm
MS Teams 
Chair: Cllr Ghani 



Membership
Name Post title Organisation

Cllr Syed Ghani
(Chair)

Cabinet Member for Enforcement 
and Community Safety

London Borough of Barking and 
Dagenham (LBBD)

Stuart Bell
(Interim Chair)

Detective Superintendent East 
Area BCU 

Metropolitan Police Service (MPS)

Fiona Taylor
(Deputy Chair)

Acting Chief Executive and 
Strategic Director, Law and 
Governance

LBBD

April Bald Operational Director, Childrens’ 
Care and Support

LBBD

Rema Begum Victim Support

Steve Calder Head of Service, Barking, 
Dagenham and Havering

The Probation Service

Matthew Cole Director of Public Health LBBD

Jennie Coombes Head of Service Be First

Narinder Dail Borough Commander London Fire Brigade (LFB)

Tarina Evans Senior Service Development 
Manager

Victim Support

Angie Fuller Head of YOS, Missing and 
Exploitation, Childrens’ Care and 
Support

LBBD

Cllr Elizabeth 
Kangethe

Cabinet Member for Educational 
Attainment and School 
Improvement

LBBD

Chris Lyons Community Safety Partnership 
Team Manager

LBBD

Kevin Makambe Head of Triage Lifecycle LBBD

Ioannis Mathioudakis Barking and Dagenham Council for 
Voluntary Service (BDCVS)

Andy Opie Director of Enforcement and 
Community Safety

LBBD

Pip Salvador-Jones Director Barking and Dagenham Citizens 
Advice Bureau (CAB)

Nathan Singleton CEO LifeLine Projects BD Collective

Steve Thompson Safer Neighbourhood Board (SNB)

Melody Williams North East London Foundation Trust 
(NELFT)

Cllr Maureen Worby Cabinet Member for Adult Social 
Care and Health Integration

LBBD



LBBD Advisers 
Name Post title Organisation

David Lingard Community Safety Operations 
Manager

LBBD

Non-LBBD Advisers
Name Post title Organisation

Kit Weller MOPAC Link Officer Mayor’s Office for Policing and 
Crime (MOPAC)

Contact Officer: 
Ilirjeta Buzoku, Community Safety Partnership National Management Trainee, 

Enforcement and Community Safety
E-mail: ilirjeta.buzoku@lbbd.gov.uk

mailto:ilirjeta.buzoku@lbbd.gov.uk


THE COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP

Wednesday, 8 December 2021
(10.00-13.00pm) 

Members Present: Andy Opie, Angie Fuller, April Bald, Chris Lyons, Councillor Mullane (CHAIR), 
Councillor Worby, Daniel James, Eve McGrath, Ioannis Mathioudakis, Jade Hodgson (NOTE 
TAKER), Jonathan Woodhams, Kit Weller, Nathan Singleton, Paul Trevers, Pip Salvador-Jones, 
Sonia Drozd, Stephen Thompson, Steve Calder and Tarina Evans.

Additional Attendees: Laura Norton, Simon Cornwall

Apologies: Brian Parrot, Councillor Carpenter, Fiona Taylor, Helen Davie, Jennie Coombes, Kevin 
McKambe, Matthew Cole, Melody Williams and Narinder Dail.

1. INTRODUCTIONS AND APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Councillor Mullane, Community Safety Partnership (CSP) chair opened the December CSP 
board and apologies were noted.

2. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

No declarations of interest to note.

3. MINUTES

The September CSP board minutes were approved. The following actions remain 
outstanding.

ACTION: CSP Board Chairs to jointly write to NELFT for a deputy representative to be 
identified.
ACTION: Chris Lyons to link in with MPS to share comms for Safe Haven rollout. 
ACTION: Paul Trevers to provide update to board members on the police encounter 
panels.

4. MOPAC PILOT GPS TAGGING FOR DOMESTIC ABUSE PERPETRATORS ON 
LICENCE

The MOPAC funded pilot has been running since March 2021 and is currently in place 
until 31 March 2022. This pilot is aimed at individuals who are being released from a 
custodial sentence on licence for a domestic abuse offence and can be subject to GPS 
monitoring for up to 6 months. 

 The pilot allows for exclusions zones, reporting to specific services or places and 
trail monitoring to allow probation to look at where they are spending their time, 
movements and behaviours.

 GPS conditions are not voluntary and are enforceable if not adhered too. 
 GPS can be tailored to each individual and does not require the wearer to be at 

home or provide an address so can be less restrictive than a curfew.

Page 1

AGENDA ITEM 3



 GPS tagging has been piloted over a several cohorts, the domestic abuse pilot has 
been introduced following enquiries with MAPPA, S-TAC, MPS colleagues, and 
probation. There is a clear match between GPS licence conditions and domestic 
abuse risk management conditions.

 The aims are that offenders subject to GPS can have behaviours challenged to 
have a positive impact, improve the management of risk posed to past, current 
and future partners and other known adults and children, act as a deterrent to 
domestic abuse perpetrators, increase effectiveness of enforcement and 
managing compliance with licence conditions.

 The eligibility for the pilot is that individuals must be over 18 years, serving a 
sentence for domestic abuse related offence, released from a London prison to a 
London address, released before pilot end date and assessed as posing a high or 
very high risk of serious harm. 

 Interest zones can be applied such as a child’s school, ex-partners place of work to 
see if the offender is spending time within these locations. Interest zones are not 
enforceable but can be applied to their GPS tagging for information purposes. This 
could also include positive places like a placement of work.

 Probation can receive heat mats part of trial monitoring. 
 Around 100 cases have been fitted with GPS tag, 3 cases in B&D. One has returned 

to prison following breach of exclusion zone and the other 2 cases are live and 
being monitored. 

 Feedback has been positive and allows for robust risk management. Data can be 
requested by partners directly to the provider where this will support work or 
investigations. 

ACTION: Laura Norton to share existing knife crime pilot findings to CSP Board members 
as the DA pilot does not have sharable findings at this stage.

5. FIRST TIME ENTRANTS

First Time Entrants (FTE) continues to be a priority for LBBD, at the end of 2020 LBBD had 
the highest rate of FTE into Criminal Justice System (CJS) across the country and have 
consistently remained above national and regional averages and in the top 10 for the last 
5 years. 

 FTE are young people under 18 years who are arrested and received a substantive 
outcome for an offence, those who are charge straight to court and receive a 
conviction and those who receive a youth caution or conditional caution which is 
an alternative to being charged to court. 

 Young people can engage with the YOS voluntarily through an out of court 
disposal via community resolutions given from the MPS. These do not count as an 
FTE and can only be applied where there is an admission of guilt. 

 YARM has positively impacted FTE numbers, only 5% seen by YARM are entering 
the CJS. 

 LBBD are above the national and London average for FTE since 2017, from 2019 
onwards the trends have decreased, data is only available until 2020 which saw 
LBBD ranked 5th. 

 We have rag rated ourselves as Amber due to positive changes but aware needs to 
be done. 

Page 2



 The YOS Board monitor FTE on regular basis and an FTE task and finish group has 
been developed to provide the opportunity to look at gaps, areas which we can 
have a positive impact, improve the quality of provision for young people.

 10 randomly selected cases have been looked at to identify key themes, these 
deep dives highlighted that 80% were known to CSC on CIN or CSP Plan, 50% 
witnessed domestic abuse, nearly 60% witnessed either a parent or sibling abusing 
substances, 62% had a change or inconsistency in primary care, 40% experienced 
significant loss, 60% were excluded from school or struggled with 
engagement/attendance, 60% were previously arrested and no further action 
taken by MPS and 30% being released under investigation and 50% were also a 
victim of crime.

 The FTE subgroup are identify who at point of arrest who may be eligible for out of 
court disposal there is a menu of resources for positive diversionary activities that 
can be offered and applied

 The next steps are to deliver training to identify how partners can intervene 
earlier, ongoing review of FTE data and an annual deep dive of FTE to identify 
changes to trends and themes. 

Nathan Singleton questioned how many young people investigated do not come an FTE 
and the 5% of those linked into YARM that do enter CJS do we know numbers if they 
didn’t receive YARM. We have only just started to receive RUI data from MPS on a 
national level across London so the first time we have seen this, we only have this on an 
East Area level. Angie Fuller also advised there isn’t a control group for YARM. 

ACTION: Paul Trevers to look into what local data MPS have access to focusing on those 
released under investigation that could support this work. 

6. MPS UPDATE ON STREET VIOLENCE

Gordon Henderson provided an update to board members on Street Violence. 
 The MPS control strategy remains same. 
 The priorities remain as serious violence and safeguarding, the local priorities are 

robbery, burglary, serious violence and domestic abuse.
 Key challenges are public confidence following the murder of Sarah Everard and 

recently 2 officers sentenced following their actions around the crime scenes and 
moving out of covid and MPS response to the changing picture.  

 LBBD the violent crime picture fluctuates, in September-October 2021 there was a 
reduction in violent crime, however the data to TTCG for mid oct-mid Nov shows 
an increase in violence crime from 24 incidents up to 31 incidents

 Robberies have stabilised following a focus on the hotspot locations which 
included transport hubs and martins’ corner. 

 Barking Town Centre is a hotspot for sexual offences with 11 offences between 
August and October 2021. MPS are unpicking data to focus on what is causing 
hard to women. Previously reported on all offences involving a woman, this is 
being reviewed to ensure the data focuses specifically on VAWG relation crimes. 
This will also include a focus of road rage incidents.  

 An Operation has been launched to deploy a que car (unmarked car) in town 
centres to identify if there are any groups of men focusing attention on women, 
they will task uniformed officers to approach and speak to those groups. This will 

Page 3



mean an increase in uniformed officers. 
 MPS thanked B&D council for providing funding, through TTCG MPS have been 

able to allocate further resources £13,000 until March 2021 to allow visibility 
patrols, hotspots and targeted violence and offending. Response team colleagues 
have done an additional 4 hours in BTC as hotspot areas following the last TTCG. 
The TTCG will monitor the benefits and impact. 

 Areas of support required are reviews of parks and open spaces looking at patrols, 
design out crime, CCTV. Abbey Ruins raises concerns of sexual offences and 
exposure offences. Review of transport hubs and CCTV around the stations and 
hubs. Look at data from last 7 days it is clear most violence offences and robbery 
across east area is focused in and around transport hubs. 

 Paul Trevers noted the Violence Suppression Unit (VSU) will be deployed to the 
hotspots and current crime demands. Violent crime reduction data highlights hate 
crime has improved up to 9.6%, knife crime 13.1% robbery 6.4% rape 2.7%. early 
days, MPS will continue to focus on this to improve crime solve rate. 

Councillor Mullane noted that 11 sexual offences seem low, do MPS feel there is an issue 
with reporting? If we look at violence crime and overlap with LAS and cases reported into 
A&E departments shows disparity in reporting, under reporting is evident so this would 
suggest the same for sexual offences. Councillor Mullane also highlighted the need to 
keep a focus on Heathway and Becontree with the focus of BTC to ensure there isn’t 
displacement. 

Steve Thompson raised the focus of E-Scooters at the SNB questioned what action is 
being taken on E-Scooters and crime within the borough. The data actually focuses more 
the robbery of E-Scooters than then being used for robbery. Paul Trevers noted that an 
operation will be launched focusing on E-Scooters around the Heathway.

Eve McGrath highlighted an increase of reports in crime against GP staff, this has not 
come to the attention of MPS but agreed this is of concern and agreed to look into this. 
Andy Opie advised this can be taken through TTCG and IVOLT process to lead on any 
problem solving. In the new year we will bring an update to CCTV to CSP board looking at 
upgrades of control room and on street cameras. Map of cameras in borough and overlay 
with where offences are taking place. Can also link with parks team to look at problem 
solving and design out crime. 

ACTION: Eve McGrath to link in with Paul Trevers and Gordon Henderson regarding 
crimes against GP staff. Follow up for next agenda (COMPLETED). 
ACTION: Jonathan Woodhams to share map of CCTV with Paul Trevers and Gordon 
Henderson to overlay with crime data. 
ACTION: Jade Hodgson to add CCTV Review to CSP forward plan (COMPLETED). 
ACTION: Paul Trevers to look into the riding of E-Scooters and what was being done by 
the EABCU about the illegal use of them within the Borough and report back to CSP 
Members. 

7. WOMEN'S SAFETY PRESENTATION

A presentation was provided on the work strands around women’s safety across the 
partnership. 

 In April 2021, following the murder of Sarah Everard the council launched the 

Page 4



Women’s Safety Survey for residents to map areas where they feel unsafe in the 
borough. 282 residents took part resulting in 408 pins. These findings were fed 
through the IVOLT and into the CDSA and CSP Plan. The data was analysed to look 
at the hotspot locations to help inform the Safe haven scheme and findings 
supported funding bids to deliver services and interventions to improve safety. 

 Safe Havens is a scheme working with local businesses to provide a safe space for 
residents if they feel unsafe of vulnerable in a community setting. Local data and 
findings from the women’s safety survey have been used to identify where safe 
havens will be required, the types of venues and times in which they will be 
beneficial. Consultation with young people through schools and BAD Forum was 
undertaken to design the logo, and ICE cards and information and advice pack for 
businesses were designed. A coordinator post is being developed to manage the 
roll out and coordination of the scheme. The CSP team continue to map 
businesses, connecting in council community hubs, and taking learning from street 
space pilot on perceptions of safety. 

 Street Space Station Activation pilot looked at perceptions of safety at Barking 
Station. This led a project that looks at different ways to change perceptions of 
safety at the station. Through the MHCLG Welcome Back Fund the CSP team 
commissioned an 8 week pilot to create spaces for performances, greening the 
area, displaying local artwork to connect people to the area. This commenced on 
07th November 2021 running until the end of December 2021. 

 Councillors’ walkabouts were conducted following the women safety survey 
visiting hotspot areas to look at issues and engage with residents. The 3 locations 
visited were the Heathway, Chadwell Heath and Barking Town Centre. Findings 
have been worked up in to an action plan.

 The CSP Team applied for Safety of Women at Night (SWAN) Fund to fund, 
coordination of safe havens, tootoot real time reporting app and bystander 
training. Only one borough in London received funding, however we are exploring 
other funding opportunities. 

 Women’s Night Safety Charter was launched by Mayors Office which sought 
organisations to nominate a champion to actively promote women’s safety at 
night, to train staff to ensure women who report are believed and how to record 
and respond. The Council will be signing up and actively encouraging local 
businesses in the borough. 

 An Environmental Visual Audit (EVA) was conducted by the MPS which resulted in 
3 detailed reports for Barking Station/Station Parade, Wakering Road, and East 
Street/London Road. This is being monitored and delivered through the Barking 
Town Centre Action Plan meeting.

 Street Safe pilot website where residents can report areas where they feel less 
safe has been launched, similar to LBBD women’s safety survey. The data is shared 
with the police basic command unit and shared with local partners; this will be 
delivered through the IVOLT subgroup.

 Police town centre team has received a significant uplift in resources for Barking 
Town Centre, with 1 Inspector, 3 Sergeants and 21 Police Constables. The team is 
now live and operating. 

 Community Safety Enforcement Team is being recruited to which will focus on 
enforcement of PSPOs, CPN and CPW and support vulnerable into support 
services. 

 The IVOLT subgroup has been leading on perceptions of safety, looking at the 

Page 5



recent areas of concern for women safety and problem solving. 
 The next steps are for the CSP to consider how we set up the conversation with 

communities to engage with residents and feedback what we are doing to close 
the loops and also how to encourage residents to engage and support with ideas 
for improving safety. 

Angie Fuller noted the Safe Haven scheme is linked in to cultural venues for children and 
young people and are connected into the working group. Gordon Henderson questioned 
how this links with the Ask Angela campaign to ensure they do not conflict. Chris Lyons 
advised that licensing have delivered training on ask Angela and Ask Clive and agreed that 
we need to consider Safe Havens focusing on non-licenced premises. Pip Salvador- Jones 
agreed and noted the pressures felt within CVS organisations and the need to develop a 
framework around the schemes. 

8. COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP PLAN

Following the approval of the Crime and Disorder Strategic Assessment (CDSA) by the CSP 
Board in September 2021 a review of the CSP Plan has been conducted. Like the CDSA this 
will be the final annual review and a new plan and assessment will be drafted next year 
with the support of the partnership. 

 The CDSA highlighted that the CSP priority areas and structure are still relevant, 
therefore no changes were required within the plan.

 The data slides on the makeup of the borough and crime and disorder were 
reviewed to reflect the data from the recent CDSA.

 We have reflected the updates to the Safeguarding Childrens Partnership. 
 Added in prevent referral email under information and advice.
 In partnership with the CSP subgroup chairs the priority areas were reviewed to 

ensure the focus and monitoring focus remains relevant and any new areas of 
work are reflected within the plan. The following areas of work were added to the 
plan. 

o Women’s and girls’ safety focusing on safety within a public space – IVOLT
o Governance of the LBBD VRU Serious Violence Action Plan – IVOLT
o Delivery of MOPAC priorities – IVOLT
o Implementation of ECINS for IOM cohort – Reducing Reoffending
o Collating data sets to inform the Reducing Reoffending subgroup
o Delivery of National Referral Mechanism (NRM) and Harmful Sexualised 

Behaviour (HSB) Pilots – Contextual Safeguarding and YOS Boards
o Delivery of Your Choice CBT Programme – Contextual Safeguarding and YOS 

Boards 
o Implementation and monitoring tension reports through community and 

school reporting – Hate Crime and Tension Monitoring 
o Implementation and monitoring of racist and hate graffiti to identify 

hotspot locations – Hate Crime and Tension Monitoring

The plan was shared with CSP members and final changes reflected; we are now seeking 
approval of the refresh from CSP members. Board members approved the plan and 
confirmed the agreement for this to be published onto the council website. 

Page 6



9. LBBD VRU VIOLENCE REDUCTION ACTION PLAN

The CSP are required to develop an annual LBBD VRU Violence Reduction Action Plan that 
sets partnership response and delivery to addressing serious violence. The template 
follows the same structure as previous year with the categories as governance, analysis 
and enforcement, reducing access to weapons’ safeguarding and educating children and 
young people, working with communities and neighbourhoods to reduce violence, 
support to victims of violence and vulnerability and positive diversion from violence.

The plan was developed in partnership with CSP Members and includes a range of VRU 
mandated actions alongside actions developed across the partnership, during 
development we identified that 

 Consideration is needed to map the process and support package offered to 
victims across the partnership and the pathways into services. 

 Your Choice CBT Programme is monitored through YOS and Exploitation Team 
however this only covers young people through YOS cohort, confirmation is 
required at how all victims will be identified and supported by other partners.

 Support is required to engage with St Giles Trust to connect safeguarding 
information from London Trauma and A&E units into the CSP.

 Support is required from intel capacity and MPS to commit to an annual review of 
the exploitation strategy.

The board supported within the identification of a lead organisation and support 
organisation for the final two VRU Mandated actions that were not yet assigned. The draft 
plan was circulate for final comments on 11 November 2021, we are now seeking 
approval from the board ready for submission to the VRU on 10 December 2021. The 
board agreed the VRU plan.

10. RESTRICTED: UPDATE ON LCPF AND VRU GRANT FUNDING

Item restricted due to sensitive information. 

11. RESTRICTED: HEATHWAY TENSIONS

Item restricted due to sensitive information. 

12. RESTRICTED: PREVENT UPDATE

Item restricted due to sensitive information. 

13. FORWARD PLAN

The board reviewed the CSP forward plan and agreed the items listed for the March 2022 
board. Board members identified the following future agenda items to be added to the 
forward plan. 

 Update on NRM Pilot – Angie Fuller
 Victim Support Process – Tarina Evans
 MPS Drug Strategy – Paul Trevers
 Schools’ response to ''Everyone invited website '' re sexual harm in school settings 

– April Bald

Page 7



14. ANY OTHER BUSINESS

Stephen Port inquest hearings concluded; the coroner having heard the details has no 
findings of institutional homophobia. Incompetence rather than institutional racism from 
coroner. Coroner directed as such that police could not incriminate themselves, this has 
not been the case. Not picking up any tensions at the moment and no policing plan has 
been implemented at this stage. Hoping for findings by the end of this week and jury to 
find their finding, local partner messages will be shared for the inquest hearing. Media 
work is being done in response to the inquest. Stephen Thompson intention to hold a 
public facing meeting to reassure residents and have any questions answered. 

15. RESTRICTED: PERFORMANCE REPORT

No notable updates. 

16. SUBGROUP UPDATE REPORTS

Contextual safeguarding and YOS Board – University of Bedfordshire contextual 
safeguarding pilot ends in April 2022, the subgroup is looking at how to embed processes 
and ways of working and how best to implement a quality assurance framework to 
monitoring impact. YARM commissioned workshops with Quinton Green to look at music 
production around clean drill. The group continue to look at the coordination of funding 
bids. The Young people’s safety summit will be delivered in 2022 to look at safe and 
unsafe spaces in a school and community settings which can support the safe haven 
scheme and wider community safety work. 

The Hate Crime and Tension Monitoring group have been looking at hate and tension 
reporting mechanisms to improve reporting and analytical processes this includes work 
through communities, schools, council website reports and analysing offensive graffiti 
hotspots. National Hate Crime Awareness Week took place during October 2021 which 
provided a range of activities including training and workshops. To date no tensions have 
been identified that need to be escalated through the CSP however the group continue to 
monitor areas that can cause local tensions including the Stephen Port inquest.

IVOLT continues to expand in agenda items and membership. The group leads on 
monitoring repeat caller and LFB data, supporting the delivery of the findings from the 
EVA, monitoring unlicensed music events, reviewing intel from TTCG to support problem 
solving in particular locations, addressing hotspots, delivery of community payback and 
delivery of MOPAC priorities. Standing case conference has seen as decrease in referrals 
since the implementation of the ASB early warning pilot. 

Reducing Reoffending Board has undergone a review and now has a revised ToR for the 
meeting. A first meeting for the revised board is planned for the new year which will focus 
on finalising the ToR and identify the themes for the future year board meetings to 
support deep dives and thematic agendas. 

VAWG subgroup is still not in place, the board are exploring a tri-borough VAWG meeting 
that will support delivery and co-commissioning. Pip Salvador-Jones noted the pressures 
being felt around VAWG referencing the flag programme. Councillor Worby advised the 

Page 8



board can’t afford for this group meeting to not meet. The Community safeguarding lead 
commissioner interviews are underway, this post leads on the VAWG subgroup and 
agenda. Andy Opie noted that the board need to make sure we identify the risk around 
VAWG and the CSP will support childrens and adults commissioning to move forward and 
support the delivery of VAWG work strands. 

ACTION: Councillor Worby to speak with Elaine Allegretti to discuss and identify an 
interim chair for the VAWG and feedback to CSP. 
ACTION: Sonia Drozd to feedback to CSP Members on the Community Safeguarding 
Commissioner interviews. 

17. SAFER NEIGHBOURHOOD BOARD UPDATE

SNB have recently held an open public meeting, area that arose from the meeting have 
been fed into the CSP and MPS. No further areas to note. 

18. SAFEGUARDING BOARDS UPDATE REPORT

Item restricted due to sensitive information. 

19. DATE OF NEXT MEETING

Community Safety Partnership Board
Wednesday 30 March 2022, 10:00am-13:00pm
BLC Conference Room (TBC) or MS Teams
Chair: Paul Trevers or Stephen Clayman

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Subject: Police and Crime Plan 2021 – 2025

Date: Wednesday 29th June 2022

Author: James Bottomley

Contact: James.Bottomley@mopac.london.gov.uk

Security: Unprotected  

1. Brief Update

2. Recommendation(s)

2.1 It is recommended that the Community Safety Partnership Board:

3. Main Update

Report not received. 

4. Appendices:

Appendix 1: Police and Crime Plan 2021-25 presentation 

COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP

REPORT

Page 11

AGENDA ITEM 4



This page is intentionally left blank



Police and Crime Plan 2021-25 – Progress Update

May – November 2021 – pre-engagement, development of outcomes framework and draft Plan

16th November 2021 – 21st January 2022 – public & stakeholder consultation on draft Plan

Before 31st March 2022 – consultation findings analysed, final PCP drafted & published

P
age 13



Police and Crime Plan 2021-25 – Progress Update

May – November 2021 – pre-engagement, development of outcomes framework and draft Plan

16th November 2021 – 21st January 2022 – public & stakeholder consultation on draft Plan

Before 31st March 2022 – consultation findings analysed, final PCP drafted & published

www.london.gov.uk/policecrimeplan

P
age 14



Consultation Overview

Consultation – 16th November 2021 – 21st January 2022

Online survey on 
Talk London and 

YouGov

Written and 
email 

responses to 
consultation

Four general 
workshops

DMPC will appear before 
PCC who will also send a 
written submission and 
we must publish the 
response

Targeted workshops for 
specific audiences, 
including deaf and 
disabled people, young 
people, frontline Police 
officers and offenders

Youth 
Assembly 

scutiny

Bespoke 
sessions for 

sectors/ 
Boards

Small pots of money to 
facilitate communities 
running their own PCP 

conversations

In person 
workshops 

and advertising for 
those without 
access to tech

Draft Plan translated 
into multiple languages 

on our website

P
age 15



Priorities for the refreshed VAWG strategy
There will be three main sections to the next VAWG 

Strategy focussed on the following areas:

Prevention Tackling 
perpetrators

Supporting 
victims and 
survivors

With cross cutting themes of perceptions of public safety and trust and confidence.

P
age 16



P
C

P
 P

ri
o

ri
ti

es
O

u
tc

o
m

e

Victims receive better support from the police and 
CJS, including in on-line interaction

Better Criminal Justice response and outcomes for 
victims

There are fewer repeat victims of domestic abuse,  
sexual violence and VAWG

Young people are safer

Re-offending is reduced in the most violent and 
risky cohorts

Women and girls are safer and feel safer

Hate crime is reduced

Public trust in the police is increased, particularly 
that of black Londoners

The Met engage with Londoners and treat them 
fairly

Community safety partners respond to the crime 
and anti-social behaviour which most concerns 
Londoners

The MPS respond effectively to crime.

Our Vision:
London is a Safe City for All

Young people in the justice system are supported and safe Fewer adults and children are exploited and harmed 
Londoners are protected in public, private and online

Outcomes Framework

Victims are better 
supported

Violence is prevented 
and reduced

Trust and Confidence 
increases

Protecting people from exploitation and harm

London is Safer Londoners feel Safer

P
age 17



Police and Crime Plan 2021-25 – Progress Update

May – November 2021 – pre-engagement, development of outcomes framework and draft Plan

16th November 2021 – 21st January 2022 – public & stakeholder consultation on draft Plan

Before 31st March 2022 – consultation findings analysed, final PCP drafted & published

- What do you think are the key actions needed to 
achieve the outcomes set out in the draft Plan?

- Are there ways in which we can work together to 
help deliver these outcomes?

P
age 18



Young people are safer

Re-offending is reduced in the most violent and 
risky cohorts

Women and girls are safer and feel safer

Hate crime is reduced

Violence is prevented and reduced

Reduce: Number of homicides domestic and non-
domestic (PRC). Knife crime with injury u25 non-DA 
(NHS). Lethal barrel discharges (PRC)

Reduce: Reoffending rate for the most violent 
cohort (IOM) and DA and Sexual Violence (PRC)

Increase: Women - safe in an area day/night (PAS)

Reduce: Hate Crime in person and online (PAS)

Our Vision:
London is a Safe City for All

London is Safer Londoners feel Safer

Violence is prevented 
and reducedP

age 19



Public trust in the police is increased, particularly 
that of black Londoners

The Met engage with Londoners and treat them 
fairly

Community safety partners respond to the crime 
and anti-social behaviour which most concerns 
Londoners

The MPS respond effectively to crime.

Trust and Confidence increases

Increase: How good a job do you think the police 
are doing (local)? (PAS) 

Increase: The police treat everyone fairly (PAS)

Increase: The MPS deals with things that matter to 
the community. Proportion of people who perceive 
using or dealing drugs to be a problem (local) (PAS)

Reduce: Equality gap to within ±5% for above (PAS)

Reduce: Burglary, vehicle crime, robbery, theft, 
ASB (PAS and PRC)

Increase: Sanction detections for DA, hate crime, 
knife crime, rape, burglary, vehicle crime, robbery.

Our Vision:
London is a Safe City for All

London is Safer Londoners feel Safer

Trust and Confidence 
increases

P
age 20



Victims receive better support from the police and 
CJS, including in on-line interaction

Better Criminal Justice response and outcomes for 
victims

There are fewer repeat victims of domestic abuse,  
sexual violence and VAWG

Victims are Better Supported

Victims are better 
supported

Reduce: Victim satisfaction disproportionality (USS 
and CJ wide) face to face and TDIU

Increase: Proportion of people supporting 
investigation (RASSO and DA)

Reduce: Repeat victimisation for DA, sexual 
violence and VAWG (TBC)

Our Vision:
London is a Safe City for All

London is Safer Londoners feel Safer

P
age 21



Young people in the justice system are supported 
and safe

Fewer adults and children are exploited and 
harmed 

Londoners are protected in public, private and 
online

Protecting people from exploitation and harm

We will take a qualitative approach to assessing 
impact in relation to protection of vulnerable 
children and adults. 

No quantitative measures are proposed

Our Vision:
London is a Safe City for All

London is Safer Londoners feel Safer

Protecting people from exploitation and harm

P
age 22



COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP

REPORT
Subject:  ACTIVATION STATION REPORT 

Date: Wednesday 29th June 2022

Author: Tegan Mills, Project Lead, Street Space

Contact: tegan@wearestreetspace.org

Security: [UNPROTECTED/PROTECTED]

1. Purpose of Presenting the Report and Decisions Required 

1.1. Activation Station is a pilot project aimed at exploring perceptions of safety  
outside Barking Station. By listening to residents, businesses and people who 
use  the station, Street Space aimed to understand perceptions of safety and 
generate  ideas and experiments to make the area feel safer.  

1.2. The project follows the Women’s Safety Survey (April 2021) conducted by 
Barking  and Dagenham Council that revealed Barking Station to be one of 
the places  across the Borough where people feel most unsafe.  

1.3. Throughout the project, we gathered feedback from more than 500 people to  
understand the impact of the activations on perceptions of safety.  

1.4. We found that 57% of people said they felt that the activations impacted how  
people feel, think and behave at Barking Station. The activations saw a 27%  
increase in people who reported to feel safe outside Barking Station. 59% of  
people said they would like to see further change outside Barking Station.  

2. Recommendation(s) 

2.1. It is recommended that the Community Safety Partnership Board: 

• Create more opportunities for local people to be involved in the future of Barking 
Station • Create more opportunities for Greening & Artwork outside Barking Station • 
Establish a performance space outside Barking Station 
• Use a phased approach to making changes to build momentum 

• Experiment further with daytime markets and nighttime lighting 

• Replicate the activations at other sites such as Dagenham Heathway Station 12

Page 23

AGENDA ITEM 5



[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED] 

3. Main Text 
3.1 Street Space created 3 ‘activations’ which were installed outside Barking 

Station between  November 2021 and January 2022. These activations 
included public seating & greening,  public artworks and public performance 
and involved 54 local people in their creation.  

3.2 We found that 57% of people said they felt that the activations impacted how 
people feel,  think and behave at Barking Station. The activations saw a 27% 
increase in people who  reported to feel safe outside Barking Station and a 
29% increase in people who reported  to feel happy outside Barking Station.  

3.3 26% of people said they were more likely to spend time outside Barking 
Station and 30%  of people said they were more likely to meet a friend outside 
Barking Station whilst the  activations were in place. 59% of people said they 
would like to see further change outside  Barking Station.  

3.4 62% of people said they noticed the activations. 43% of people said they liked 
the planters  the most and 42% said they liked the painting the most. Yet 
when speaking with people on  the ground, many people reported the 
performances to have the biggest impact on how  they feel. However, this was 
limited to only having an impact whilst the performances took  place.  

4. List of Appendices: 
Appendix 1: Activation Station Report 

Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP

REPORT
Subject: Rescue and Response Assessment

Date: Wednesday 29th June 2022

Author: Edil Abdi

Contact: Edil.Abdi@brent.gov.uk

Security: Unprotected  

1.     Brief Update

2.      Recommendation(s)

2.1      It is recommended that the Community Safety Partnership Board:

3.      Main Update

Report not received. 

4. Appendices

    Appendix 1. 

Page 51

AGENDA ITEM 6



This page is intentionally left blank



1   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

YEAR 3
STRATEGIC

ASSESSMENT
2021

RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT:   
SUPPORTING YOUNG LONDONERS AFFECTED 
BY COUNTY LINES EXPLOITATION

P
age 53



2   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

DATA CAVEATS
The following changes have occurred to recording practices for 
CLICM (County Lines Intelligence Collection Matrix) submissions, 
which has contributed towards an overall reduction in 
individuals linked to County Lines in 20/21 compared to 19/20: 

•	 Individuals are only added to CLICM if they have been 
linked to County Lines activity within 30 days of submission 
date, meaning any individuals identified who were linked to 
County Lines activity prior to the 30 day cut off would not be 
included. 

•	 The CLICM was initially collated via spreadsheets, but this was 
changed to a manual input onto the PND (Police National 
Database).

•	 Minimum recording standards were put in place for 
submissions to improve data quality and names without a 
date of birth were no longer included. 

•	 Intelligence scanning of MPS systems was moved from 
Rescue and Response and the local borough Intel teams to 
a central MPS unit, resulting in not all information systems 
being scanned. Another outcome of this was that young 
people suspected, but not confirmed, of being linked to 
County Lines were no longer included. 

DATA SOURCES
•	 Data extracted from the Rescue and Response (R&R) 

Referral Platform EC Connect.

•	 Data extracted from the National County Lines 
Coordination Centre (NCLCC) County Lines Database 
(CLICM – County Lines Intelligence Collection Matrix).

•	 Research carried out on MPS intelligence systems.

•	 Anecdotal information has been obtained during focus 
groups held with Rescue and Response service providers 
and project Partnership Coordinators regarding themes, 
experiences and professional insights.

•	 Data has been obtained from Local Authority (LA) partners 
for demographics and themes, through regular data 
requests and surveys.

•	 Young people engaged with the project completed an 
online survey collated by the University of Bedfordshire.

DATE PARAMETERS
01/05/2020 to 30/04/2021  Year 3 Analysis (2020/2021)
01/09/2018 to 30/04/2021   3 Year Analysis

PROTECTIVE MARKING
OFFICIAL

AUTHORS
William Willson Operations Manager
Farah Dadabhoy North Area Analyst
Zarko Krickovic East Area Analyst
Ravinder Kalsi South Area Analyst

CONTRIBUTING AUTHORS
Jocelyn Yeboah-Newton Gender Consultant, Abianda

DATE CREATED
December 2021

CONTACT
enquiries@rescue-response.com

This third strategic needs assessment has shown with 
increasing clarity the real landscape of County Lines 
exploitation across London and the awful impact 
on London’s children and young people. The multi-
agency partnership approach adopted by Rescue and 
Response on a pan London level has been a clear 
strength of the project. Local authorities have played 
a vital role in coordinating this response, working 

collectively with voluntary sector partners and police 
to help children and young people move away from 
the detrimental harms associated with County Lines.  
I am very proud to have been part of the creation,  
development, implementation and ongoing delivery 
of Rescue and Response, which has demonstrated 
how working together can improve our knowledge, 
shaping what works and delivering bespoke support 

to help improve the lives of children and young 
people who are exploited through County Lines. 

Geeta Subramaniam-Mooney 
Chair of Rescue and Response Strategic Board

Corporate Director Brighter Futures and Children and Young 
People’s Commissioner, London Borough of Newham

FOREWORD   

P
age 54



Introduction	 4
Strategic Findings and Recommendations	 5
Rescue and Response Project: 3 year Overview	 8
Rescue and Response Project: Year 3 in Focus 	 11
London Maps	 14
Demographics	 16
UK Maps	 22
Rescue and Response: Rescue Service	 24
Cross-Cutting Theme : Young Women and Girls 	 25
Case Studies: Abianda	 30
Cross Cutting Theme: The COVID-19 Pandemic	 31
Case Studies: Safer London	 33
Cross-Cutting Theme: National Referral Mechanism (NRM)	 34
Case Studies: St Giles Trust	 37
Rescue and Response Project: Outcomes & Impact	 38
University of Bedfordshire: Year 3 Evaluation	 45
Operational Updates: Priorities and Development	 50
Appendix 1 What Is A County Line?	 51
Appendix 2 Rescue And Response Organisational Chart	 52
Appendix 3 Rescue And Response Referral Process	 53
Appendix 4 The Contextual Safeguarding Framework	 54
Appendix 5 Ethics And Methods: University Of Bedfordshire	 56

CONTENTS   

RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 20213  

COUNTY LINES DEFINITION
National Police Chiefs Council (2018 Home Office Serious Crime Strategy)

County Line is a term used to describe gangs and organised criminal networks involved in 
exporting illegal drugs into one or more importing areas [within the UK], using dedicated 
mobile phone lines or other form of “deal line”. They are likely to exploit children and 
vulnerable adults to move [and store] the drugs and money and they will often use 
coercion, intimidation, violence (including sexual violence) and weapons  
(See Appendix 1 for further information).

P
age 55



Rescue and Response is a pan-London County Lines support service  
for vulnerable young people up to the age of 25 who are caught up in 
County Lines drug distribution networks and subject to criminal  
exploitation. The project was launched in 2018 by the Mayor’s Office  
for Policing and Crime and is the first County Lines support service to 
operate at scale, across the whole of London.
THERE ARE THREE CORE ELEMENTS TO THE PROJECT:

•	 Rescue and Response - An immediate and flexible rescue service and casework 
response to young people referred in for intervention.

•	 Intelligence Development – this helps inform our casework, focus resources on  
those on the cusp of exploitation, and carry out strategic analysis on emerging  
County Lines themes. 

•	 Breaking the Cycle Training and Awareness Sessions – upskilling front line 
professionals across London to better identify and divert young people away  
from County Lines exploitation at the earliest possible stage.

The ‘Rescue & Response’ element is delivered through a third sector consortium of St Giles 
Trust, Safer London and Abianda. They provide a credible case-working service that can 
engage with young people at the time of need, including immediate safety planning for 
the young person and their family or network. St Giles Trust, Safer London and Abianda 
have combined their expertise in working with high risk vulnerable young people, 
deploying their complimentary and unique models of practice to increase the likelihood of 
engagement and positive outcomes for young people. This will often include the provision 
of caseworkers who have lived experience of relatable situations that our young people are 
currently facing, which can help demonstrate authenticity and contribute towards building 
a strong rapport.

Through our partnership with Abianda we provide gender specific interventions for County 
Lines affected females, which are rooted in evidence based practice, addressing the barriers 
that young women typically face in accessing services. 

This includes a Senior Gender Consultant role, who provides bespoke training packages 
focused on the needs of young women and girls and case consultations for professionals, 
helping them to make informed decisions at referral stage and then support the young 
person to transition beyond our service.

An out-of-hours callout ‘Rescue’ service allows for an immediate response from St Giles 
Trust caseworkers when a young person is picked up in the counties and suspected of 
County Lines involvement. We utilise these ‘teachable moments’ to effectively engage with 
young people and gain their trust to then deliver ongoing support. ‘Rescues’ will usually 
take place once a young person has come into contact with authorities and is in a safe 
place, such as a police station custody suite.

The ‘Intelligence Development’ works collaboratively with front line practitioners, third 
sector providers and police to try and understand the criminal networks and identify 
vulnerable young people caught up within them. This is delivered by our dedicated analyst 
team, who link in with the Metropolitan Police Service intelligence command and National 
County Lines Coordination Centre. The information gained from the project is fed in to 
create the yearly Strategic Assessment, which outlines the extent and scale of the issue 
affecting London and the surrounding counties. Our Partnership Coordinators provide the 
coordination and response to all referrals into the project, ensuring wrap around services 
are deployed. Partnership Coordinators will work closely with the professional network 
around each young person referred into the project, ensuring that our service meets their 
needs and also advocating for the young person to be effectively safeguarded.

Every London borough is experiencing the tragic impact of the exploitation of young 
people by organised criminals. The National Crime Agency have assessed that gangs & 
Organised Crime Networks utilise vulnerable children because they are inexpensive to 
employ and easy to control. The main objective of the Rescue and Response project is to 
ensure that vulnerable young people identified as being exploited through County Lines 
are protected through both the local safeguarding channels and the Rescue and Response 
provision. 

•	 See Appendix 2 for the Rescue and Response organisational chart
•	 See Appendix 3 for the Rescue and Response referral process

INTRODUCTION   

RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 20214   

P
age 56



RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 20215   

STRATEGIC FINDINGS AND 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

RECOMMENDATIONS KEY FINDINGS 
•	 The need to support vulnerable young people 

who are exploited through County Lines remains 
present and consistent with previous years, 
meaning that multi-agency interventions such as 
R&R that safeguard young people must continue 
to meet the needs of exploitation victims.

•	 In response to the negative impact of Covid-19 
on young people’s mental health and wellbeing, 
we must pro-actively seek out ways of providing 
additional support in this area, by building our 
internal capacity and comprehensively mapping 
out the external referral options available across 
London.

•	 In year 4 we will use the body of data gathered 
over 3 years to help us more accurately identify 
hotspot areas at ward level and facilitate a 
more contextual safeguarding response, which 
highlights extra-familial locations that present a 
risk and therefore an opportunity to implement 
more preventative activities.

IMPACT OF COVID-19 ON  
COUNTY LINES EXPLOITATION
•	 Despite the Covid-19 pandemic having a catastrophic 

impact internationally, from a Rescue and Response 
perspective, the County Lines exploitation picture relating 
to London has remained very consistent with previous 
years. 

•	 Year 3 data is very similar to that of year 2, with personal 
characteristics of young people referred into the project 
showing very little fluctuation and overall referral numbers 
being received at a consistent frequency. (see pages 32/33 
for further information)

•	 However, the mental health and wellbeing of young people has 
suffered a detrimental impact, with wide reporting from service 
providers of young people facing additional challenges associated 
with lockdown-driven isolation, reduced social contact, lack of 
education/employment/training opportunities and increased 
anxiety linked with ongoing instability.

•	 There were subtle changes to County Lines methodology 
throughout the pandemic, with transport methods or choices of 
safe-houses shifting to negotiate lockdown restrictions, but the 
overall operating model remains and young people continue to 
be groomed through various methods, including both online and 
in physical spaces.

IMPACT OF R&R AS AN INTERVENTION
•	 In this years Strategic Assessment we looked at the original 

project outcomes set for the initial 3-year roll-out of R&R. 
Overall, the project has succeeded in accomplishing what it set 
out to achieve, building a central knowledge-base for County 
Lines exploitation of young people in London and helping those 
involved to be safeguarded and supported to transition away 
from harm and into positive outcomes.

•	 Service providers are engaging with the majority of young 
people allocated to them and for those that do engage, 83% 
result in positive outcomes.

•	 Having dip sampled a group of 50 young people who engaged 

with the project during year 2, we looked into their missing episodes and 
offending behaviour 1 year before and 1 year after R&R engagement, 
which showed substantial reductions in both indicators. We found 
that young people experienced a 77% reduction in missing episodes 
and of those with previous convictions, 75% experienced a reduction 
in offending. This helps to demonstrate the effectiveness of the R&R 
intervention in diverting young people away from harm.

•	 The University of Bedfordshire highlighted the challenge we have had in 
implementing a consistent contextual safeguarding response, indicating 
that our work is often focussed on the individual. This challenge has 
been intensified over the past year of the pandemic, with young people 
being less visible within public or educational spaces, adding to the 
difficulty in responding with a more contextual approach.

P
age 57



6   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

STRATEGIC FINDINGS AND 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

RECOMMENDATIONS KEY FINDINGS 
RACIAL DISPROPORTIONALITY
•	 Most referral characteristics have remained relatively 

consistent year on year, such as age, gender, ethnicity, 
education, and social care status. However, year 3 showed an 
8% increase in the representation of Black individuals in our 
referral cohort, from 46% to 54%.

•	 Disproportionate representation of Black individuals, 
compared with the London population, is also seen in the 
NCLCC (National County Lines Coordination Centre) data of 
the overall number of London individuals linked to County 
Lines, which was 60% last year, an increase of 7% from the 
previous year. This demonstrates that the representation 
of Black individuals in our referral cohort is broadly similar 
to the overall County Lines picture as understood by the 
NCLCC.

•	 Racial disproportionality within the Criminal Justice 
System is a well-established problem, particularly 
relating to the over-representation of Black people. 
With R&R referrals broadly reflecting NCLCC London 
data, it would seem that determining the accuracy of 
this data is beyond the scope of R&R, but crucial that 
the issue be explored further. R&R and its partners 
will work with the NCLCC to explore what can be 
done in the upcoming financial year of 22/23 to 
advance our understanding and learning in this area.

•	 If the available data is a true representation of the 
cohort actually involved, the issue must be dealt with 
holistically to understand the cause, with a public 
health lens and focus on early years intervention. 
However, if the data we have is showing a skewed 
perspective on reality based on any existing systemic 
racial bias or prejudice, then County Lines should 
join the scope of Lammy’s (2017) review into Criminal 
Justice outcomes for Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 
individuals and the Mayor of London (2021) ‘Tackling 
Ethnic Disproportionality In Youth Justice’ action plan. 
It is of course very possible that both of these actions 
would be beneficial to try and achieve improved  
racial equality.

•	 It is fundamental that we establish whether the 
disproportionate representation of Black individuals within 
R&R and NCLCC County Lines data is accurate compared 
with the actual number involved, or if this data is affected 
by issues associated with racial stigma, stereotypes or 
targeting. 

•	 It is of note that the referral cohort for females looks 
very different to that of males with regards to ethnicity, 
with the highest amount of referrals relating to White 
females. However, comparing this data with the residential 
population of 10-25 year olds in London, white females 
would still remain under-represented and black females 
over-represented (see page 28 for data).

P
age 58



7   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

STRATEGIC FINDINGS AND 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

RECOMMENDATIONS KEY FINDINGS 
YOUNG WOMEN AND GIRLS
•	 We received fewer referrals for females in the past year 

resulting in an 18% reduction, from 99 down to 81. Given 
that our Gender Consultant has trained over 1000 frontline 
professionals in this year, we would expect that awareness 
levels around exploitation of young women and girls is at  
an improved level and partners are aware of the R&R 
project. This data could indicate that there has been a  
reduction in the number of females exploited through 
County Lines in the past year.

•	 Maintaining a focus on the specific and often more 
complex needs of young women and girls will remain 
a top priority for Rescue and Response. We will 
bolster our efforts to raise awareness by hosting a 
pan-London learning event to highlight the crucial 
crossover of County Lines exploitation and CSE, 
working closely with the Met Exploitation team to 
help improve outcomes for victims.

•	 However, our experience is that of rising complexity and 
greater risk to females who are groomed onto County 
Lines, with sexual exploitation featuring more prominently 
in presenting cases, with concerning links to extensive CSE 
networks.

•	 There seems to be wider systemic issues in place that 
create barriers to young women and girls receiving the 
appropriate safeguarding response. This includes cultural 
factors that are not considered in the potential differing 
models of CSE and perceived level of risk and vulnerabilities 
(see page 27 for further information).

P
age 59



8   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

RESCUE AND RESPONSE PROJECT:   
3 YEAR OVERVIEW

The project has continued to receive consistently 
high amounts of referrals each year, which follow 
similar peaks and troughs associated with seasonal 
related behaviours. 

We are still encouraging partner agencies to 
submit ‘intelligence only’ referrals for those not 
currently in need of intervention support, which 
helps us continue to develop a more accurate 
analytical overview of the London County Lines 
exploitation picture relating to young people up to 
the age of 25 (See page 14 for further information).

THE PROJECT TO DATE1 

83% 
76%
176

POSTIVE OUTCOME2

NRMS (NATIONAL REFERRAL 
MECHANISM) SUPPORTED

REDUCED COUNTY
LINES INVOLVEMENT2

454
ENGAGED

1667
REFERRALS

707
ACCEPTED

2.

1.

3.

1 Q2 FY18/19 to Q1 FY21/22 | 2 At R&R case closure

INTEL ACCEPTED SIGNPOSTED DECLINED -
CRITERIA  
NOT MET

AWAITS
DECISION

SAFER LONDON

ABIANDA

ST GILES TRUST

14% 13%

73%42%

64%

P
age 60



9   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

RESCUE AND RESPONSE PROJECT:   
3 YEAR OVERVIEW

•	 Project referrals in the past year 20/21 (598) remained very 
consistent with the previous year 19/20 (553), despite the 
additional challenges faced with Covid-19.

•	 Comparing the last 2 years of referrals reveals some very 
consistent trends, with a large dip in referrals during August 
and September and another dip during the colder months 
December to March.

•	 The Summer dip in referrals could be attributed to two things. 
The volume of young people frequenting public spaces in the 
daytime during school holidays, posing a greater challenger 
for frontline workers to spot the signs and symptoms of more 
vulnerable young people who may ordinarily stand out and 
also reduced consistency of professional workers during a 
period where many take leave for holidays.

•	 Fewer referrals in the winter months would be expected when 
the cold and wet weather drives people into warmer and more 
secluded spaces, leading to reduced contact with authorities.

REFERRALS YEAR ON YEAR RESCUES TO DATE CARRIED 
OUT OVER A 3 YEAR PERIOD 

120

100

80

60

40

20

0
MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR

2018/19 2019/20

Further detailed information can be found on page 24

2020/21

78
RESCUES
TO DATE

NORFOLK

SUFFOLK

ESSEX

BEDS

HERTS

SURREY

SUSSEX
HAMPSHIREAVON &

SOMERSET

DEVON &
CORNWALL

WILTSHIRE

DORSET

THAMES 
VALLEY

KENT

CAMBRIDGESHIRE

LINCOLNSHIRECHESHIRE

NORTH
WALES

SOUTH
WALES

GWENT
GLOUCESTERSHIRE

WEST
MERCIADYFED

POWYS

LEICESTERSHIRE

STAFFORDSHIRE

DERBYSHIRE
NOTTS

NORT
HAMPT

ONSH
IREWEST

MIDLANDS

WARWICKSHIRE

MPS

LEICESTERSHIRE

P
age 61



10   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

RESCUE AND RESPONSE PROJECT:   
3 YEAR OVERVIEW

This map shows the distribution of all referrals to Rescue  
and Response across 3 years by ward, based on the residential 
address of the young person. 
Now that we have a larger body of data collated over a 3 year period, we can 
better understand the geographical spread of referrals across London, looking 
beyond the borough borders.

This map shows how R&R referrals are very often condensed into small pockets 
within London boroughs, demonstrating that the issue of County Lines exploitation 
is rarely a borough-wide issue. Analysis of this kind can help promote a more 
contextual response to safeguarding, by targeting limited resources into the areas 
with the greatest need. Contextual Safeguarding is an approach to safeguarding 
adolescents from harm outside of the family home and that targets the social 
conditions of abuse; that is the spaces where young people come to harm and  
the social rules at play in these spaces (See Appendix 4).

In year 4 of the project we plan to use our analytical resource to create 
products that will support boroughs with their strategic response to County 
Lines exploitation, indicating highest risk wards and prominent places that  
have frequently come to notice.

TOWER
HAMLETS

BARKING &
DAGENHAM

R&R 
REFERRALS
BY WARD
8 TO 11 (14)
5 TO 7 (76)
3 TO 4 (140)
2 (127)
1 (146)
0 (154)

H&F
K&C

WARD	 BOROUGH	 REFERRALS

COLDHARBOUR	 LAMBETH	 11
FOREST GATE SOUTH	 NEWHAM	 11
LITTLE ILFORD	 NEWHAM	 11
COLINDALE	 BARNET	 9
SOUTH HORNCHURCH	 HAVERING	 9
STONEBRIDGE	 BRENT	 9
THORNTON HEATH	 CROYDON	 9
THURLOW PARK	 LAMBETH	 9
TULSE HILL	 LAMBETH	 9

WARDS WITH HIGHEST REFERRALS 

P
age 62



RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 202111   

RESCUE AND RESPONSE PROJECT:   
YEAR 3 IN FOCUS 2020/21

93% POSITIVE OUTCOMES IN YEAR 3

DEFINING WHAT WE MEAN BY A 
‘POSITIVE OUTCOME’:
•	 Increased feelings of safety and reduced 

feelings of vulnerability (service user led)

•	 We Improved safety and reduced level of 
risk of harm (professional viewpoint)

•	 Increased knowledge & resilience of the 
risk factors (ability to understand ways  
to stay safe through safety planning)

•	 Young person has increased knowledge 
and awareness of issues regarding CCE, 
CSE and victimisation in context of 
County victimisation in context of  
County Lines

•	 Increased skills to keep safe in different 
contexts (service user led)

•	 Increased ability to positively manage 
relationships and create healthy 
attachments

•	 Increased resilience and ability to 
influence key life decisions

•	 Increased connectivity to other  
services (service user led).

41%
ACCEPTED

62%
ENGAGED  
WITH R&R  

INTERVENTION

93%
POSITIVE OUTCOMES  
AT END OF SUPPORT 

PERIOD

598
REFERRALS 
RECEIVED

88%
REDUCED/CEASED  

COUNTY LINES AT END  
OF SUPPORT  

PERIOD

P
age 63



12   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

WHY DO WE NOT ACCEPT SOME REFERRALS? FURTHER OUTCOMES FOR ENGAGED COHORT

•	 As part of our aim to provide an accurate 
as possible overview of the London 
picture for County Lines exploitation of 
young people, we encourage frontline 
practitioners to make ‘intelligence only’ 
referrals into the project for when an 
individual does not currently need our 
intervention support. These referrals 
help us to map out the overall problem 
across the capital and continue to be 
the primary source for providing a 
pan-London overview of County Lines 
exploitation. 

•	 We also receive many referrals relating to 
young people who do not meet our criteria 
of having an association with County Lines, 
but have shown vulnerability that puts them 
at risk of exploitation. Due to the team being 
at capacity throughout the project with 
confirmed County Lines cases, we have been 
unable to allocate these individuals internally 
to date, but will signpost to alternative local 
provision and in year 4 will be referring 
local exploitation cases to the Home office 
funded County Lines Victim Support Service 
operated by St Giles Trust.

At the close of the year 20/21 R&R had 178 
active and open cases, with 29% receiving 
6-12 months intervention, demonstrating 
the longevity of our casework with young 
people.

We aim to avoid putting deadlines to our 
casework, seeking to close cases more 
organically when a young person has 
been effectively safeguarded and ready to 
transition into the next phase of their life.

RESCUE AND RESPONSE PROJECT  
YEAR 3 IN FOCUS 2020/21

41%
35%

18% 5%
ACCEPTED INTEL CRITERIA 

NOT MET
SIGNPOSTED

45%

40%

35%

30%

25%

20%

15%

10%

5%

0%

88%

82%

42%

REDUCTION  
IN HARM AT 
THE END OF 
SUPPORT  
PERIOD

INCREASED  
RESILIENCE AT 
THE END OF  
SUPPORT  
PERIOD

REDUCTION IN 
NEET STATUS 
COMPARING 
PRIOR AND 
POST SUPPORT 
PERIOD

Less than 1 months  
intervention	 18

1-3 months intervention	 43

3-5 months intervention	 66

6-12 months intervention	 51

TOTAL	 178

NUMBER
OF YP

LENGTH OF 
INTERVENTION FOR 
OPEN & ACTIVE CASES 
AT YEAR END 2020/2021

P
age 64



13   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

REFERRING AGENCIES IN YEAR 3

RESCUE AND RESPONSE PROJECT  
YEAR 3 IN FOCUS 2020/21

300

200

100

0

92

COUNTY
POLICE

CSC

69

LOCAL
AUTHORITY
(NON CSC)

67

OTHER

51

MPS

25
PROBATION

16
BTP

13
VCS

10
HEALTH

7
EDUCATION

247

•	 Children’s Social Care (CSC) continue to 
be the main referring agency, accounting 
for 41% of year 3 referrals, followed by 
County Police forces with 15%.

•	 Notably, County Police force referrals 
decreased significantly as the year 
progressed, with 73% of the referrals 
coming in the first two quarters.

•	 A Local Authority team name was 
provided in 81% of referrals in year 3.  
21 different teams referred into R&R in  
year 3, as opposed to only 10 different 
teams in year 1. This demonstrates how 
R&R has developed a wider reach and 
awareness with Local Authorities as the 
project has progressed.

P
age 65



14   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 202114   

LONDON MAP SHOWING ALL REFERRALS 
INTO R&R BY BOROUGH    
2020/21

A total of 598 referrals were 
received by the Rescue and 
Response Project from May 
2020 to April 2021. These are 
represented below according 
to the borough that held 
statutory responsibility for 
them at the time of referral, 
and comparisons to the year 2 
reporting are shown within the 
borough table.

Newham remains our top 
referring borough again this 
year

Lambeth had the largest 
increase in referrals at 75%

Camden had the largest 
reduction in referrals at 78%

NUMBER OF REFERRALS
BOROUGH	 19/20	 20/21

NEWHAM	 43	 48
LAMBETH	 24	 42
CROYDON	 28	 39
BRENT	 37	 35
EALING	 19	 30
BARKING AND DAGENHAM	 17	 29
HARINGEY	 18	 27
HARROW	 25	 26
BARNET	 22	 24
SOUTHWARK	 20	 24
ENFIELD	 19	 23
HAVERING	 30	 23
BROMLEY	 13	 19
HILLINGDON	 17	 19
KINGSTON UPON THAMES	 15	 17
WALTHAM FOREST	 24	 17
LEWISHAM	 14	 15
REDBRIDGE	 11	 15
WANDSWORTH	 5	 15
ISLINGTON	 21	 14
GREENWICH	 9	 13
HACKNEY	 14	 10
HOUNSLOW	 18	 9
TOWER HAMLETS	 18	 8
BEXLEY	 10	 7
KENSINGTON AND CHELSEA	 5	 7
RICHMOND UPON THAMES	 4	 7
SUTTON	 9	 6
CAMDEN	 18	 4
MERTON	 4	 4
WESTMINSTER	 6	 4
HAMMERSMITH AND FULHAM	 6	 2
OUT OF LONDON (NOT MAPPED)	 10	 16

R&R 
REFERRALS
BY BOROUGH
36 TO 48 (3)
20 TO 35 (9)
11 TO 19 (9)
5 TO 10 (7)
0 TO 4 (4)

TOWER
HAMLETS

BARKING &
DAGENHAM

H&F
K&C

P
age 66



15   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 202115   

LONDON MAP SHOWING ALL INDIVIDUALS 
LINKED TO COUNTY LINES BY BOROUGH     
2020/21

During year 3 a total of 1,784 individuals 
have been identified as having a link to 
County Lines. This is a 44% reduction 
when compared to the same period last 
year (3,290). Those with a recorded link to 
County Lines have been collated by the 
NCLCC, and reflect submissions from R&R, 
the MPS and the county forces. There have 
been some changes in recording practices 
for CLICM (County Lines Intelligence 
Collection Matrix) submissions, which has 
contributed towards an overall reduction 
in individuals linked to County Lines in 
20/21 compared to 19/20. Please see ‘Data 
Caveats’ on page 2 for further information 
on factors contributing to this reduction.

All 1,784 individuals identified in 20/21 are 
represented in the map across by borough, 
based on their residence at the time of 
identification. The top 6 boroughs with the 
highest amount of individuals linked to 
County Lines has remained consistent  
with the previous year. 

Croydon, Lambeth, Newham and Brent 
are also our top 4 referring boroughs, 
indicating that the boroughs with the most 
notable County Lines problem are referring 
to R&R appropriately.

RANKING
BOROUGH	 19/20	 20/21

CROYDON	 1	 1
LAMBETH	 2	 2
NEWHAM	 3	 3
BRENT	 4	 4
SOUTHWARK	 5	 4
LEWISHAM	 6	 6
GREENWICH	 8	 7
EALING	 11	 8
HACKNEY	 9	 9
ENFIELD	 10	 10
WALTHAM FOREST	 7	 11
REDBRIDGE	 12	 12
HARINGEY	 13	 13
WANDSWORTH	 18	 14
BARKING & DAGENHAM	 15	 15
BEXLEY	 27	 16
ISLINGTON	 21	 17
HILLINGDON	 17	 18
BARNET	 14	 19
TOWER HAMLETS	 16	 19
HOUNSLOW	 19	 19
CAMDEN	 25	 22
KENSINGTON & CHELSEA	 24	 23
BROMLEY	 19	 24
HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM	 22	 24
MERTON	 29	 24
HARROW	 26	 27
WESTMINSTER	 28	 28
HAVERING	 22	 29
SUTTON	 30	 30
KINGSTON	 31	 31
RICHMOND	 32	 32

COUNTY LINE 
INDIVIDUALS 
BY BOROUGH 
83 TO 138 (7)
54 TO 82 (6)
42 TO 53 (5)
32 TO 41 (5)
7 TO 31 (9)

TOWER
HAMLETS

BARKING &
DAGENHAM

H&F
K&C

P
age 67



16   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

REFERRALS TO 
RESCUE AND 
RESPONSE
 

NCLCC 
COUNTY LINES 

COHORT

2020/2021

2019/2020

25

24

23

22

21

20

19

18

17

16

15

14

13

12

11

10

25% 20% 15% 10% 5% 3% 6% 9% 12% 15%

DEMOGRAPHICS FOR R&R REFERRALS AND LONDON 
INDIVIDUALS LINKED TO COUNTY LINES 
2020/2021
AGE
Referrals into R&R are significantly younger 
than the overall NCLCC County Lines Cohort. 
The graph shows that only 22% of R&R referrals 
are aged 18-25 years, whereas 69% of all 
individuals up to 25 years of the County Lines 
cohort are aged 18-25 years.
Factors contributing to a decline of referrals for  
18-25 year age group:
•	 Young adults are not viewed as possible victims of 

exploitation due to their age, instead they are presumed 
to be perpetrators.

•	 Children have more services around them, so there is 
more oversight around risk, safety and vulnerability. 
This is an issue of transitional safeguarding, where the 
18+ cohort experience services dropping away and less 
responsibility for services to advocate on their behalf as 
they reach adulthood. We believe that many young adults 
are having their vulnerability overlooked, resulting in the 
cliff-edge drop in R&R referrals for 18 year olds.

Individuals aged 25 and under account for 76% of the  
total number of individuals identified as being linked to 
County Lines.

P
age 68



17   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

GENDER

DEMOGRAPHICS FOR R&R REFERRALS AND LONDON 
INDIVIDUALS LINKED TO COUNTY LINES   
2020/21

14% INCREASE OF R&R 
REFERRALS FOR MALES

18% REDUCTION OF R&R 
REFERRALS FOR FEMALES

THE COUNTY LINES COHORT RATIO FOR GENDER HAS  
REMAINED THE SAME YEAR ON YEAR 

14%

94%86%

6%

453
99

515

20/21 20/2119/2019/20
81

MALE FEMALE

R&R REFERRALS YEAR ON YEAR BY GENDER PROPORTION OF MALES TO FEMALES 20/21 MALE

FEMALE

REFERRALS NCLCC COUNTY LINES COHORT

P
age 69



18   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

REFERRAL OBSERVATIONS

Year on year, there are small changes to all 
ethnicities except for Black individuals. 
There was an increase of referrals by 8%  
from 46% to 54% for Black individuals. 
There was also increased recording for 
young people’s ethnicities, with missing 
information for only 1% compared to the  
previous year of 5%.  

COMPARISONS TO THE  
LONDON POPULATION

Referrals for White, Asian and Other 
ethnicities are under-represented 
compared to the London population.

Referrals for Black or Mixed ethnicities are 
over-represented compared to the London 
population. 

COUNTY LINES COHORT 
OBSERVATIONS

There are a low number of Mixed ethnicity 
recorded for the County Lines cohort, 
due to the recording practices of Mixed 
ethnicities being categorised under Black, 
Asian and Other categories. 

Black individuals from London aged 
10-25 years are 6 times more likely 
to be referred to R&R for County 
Lines concerns compared to all other 
ethnicities of the same age. 

DEMOGRAPHICS FOR R&R REFERRALS AND LONDON 
INDIVIDUALS LINKED TO COUNTY LINES   
2020/21

		  WHITE	 BLACK	 ASIAN	 MIXED	 OTHER	 UNKNOWN

	 19/20	 24%	 46%	 9%	 14%	 2%	 5%

	 20/21	 22%	 54%	 7%	 13%	 3%	 1%

	 19/20	 18%	 53%	 8%	 3%	 1%	 17%

	 20/21	 17%	 60%	 8%	 0%	 2%	 13%

	 2021	 49%	 16%	 20%	 9%	 7%	 0%

REFERRALS

COUNTY LINES 
COHORT

LONDON POPULATION 
AGED 10-25YRS*

WHITE BLACK ASIAN MIXED OTHER UNKNOWN

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

REFERRALS 19/20

REFERRALS 20/21

COUNTY LINES COHORT 19/20

COUNTY LINES COHORT 20/21

LONDON POPULATION 
AGED 10-21YRS *Source: GLA - London datastore

P
age 70



19   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

DEMOGRAPHICS FOR  
R&R REFERRALS
 

Additional demographic information is recorded at point of R&R referral by the referrer, and the accuracy and 
availability of this information is dependent on what information may or may not be known to them at that time.  
The below reflects what was recorded during year 3 and comparisons have been drawn to the reporting from year 2.

41% of young people referred were in education at the time of referral 
and this has remained the same as year 2 (41%). Of those that were in 
education, 35% attended a mainstream school. This is an reduction from 
40% recorded during year 2.

Gender comparisons show that of the 213 males attending education, 
referred, 29% attended college and 35% attended mainstream school. Of 
the 35 females attending education, most were attending a PRU, which 
accounts for a much larger proportion compared with the male cohort.

COUNTY LINES AND EDUCATION

Grooming can occur outside the gates of schools and colleges. 

Once a young  person has been groomed, the exploiter will use that 
young person to widen the young people they have access to. The 
exploiter may not be going directly to school, but once they have one 
young person who attends school, their friendship or peer group will 
become a target.

Initially, young people may be identified at education establishments as 
‘perpetrators’ as opposed to victims until further digging is done around 
the complexities and power dynamic of their situation.

27% of young people had a gang link 
recorded by the referrer at time of referral. 
This is compared to 39% in year 2.

EDUCATION

GANG ASSOCIATION

SAFEGUARDING AND  
DISCLOSURES IN EDUCATION

19/20

20/21

FEMALE

MALE

22%

19%

19%

9%

40%

34%

19%

38%

20%

20%

26%

29%

35%

35%

19%

17%

ALTERNATIVE 
ESTABLISHMENT

ALTERNATIVE 
ESTABLISHMENT

COLLEGE

COLLEGE

MAINSTREAM 
SCHOOL

MAINSTREAM 
SCHOOL

PUPIL REFERRAL 
UNIT

PUPIL REFERRAL 
UNIT

TABLE SHOWING TYPE OF 
EDUCATION ESTABLISHMENT  
BY REFERRAL YEAR

17%
28%

FEMALE MALE

TABLE SHOWING 
GENDER BREAKDOWN 
OF REFERRALS WITH 
GANG ASSOCIATION

TABLE SHOWING TYPE OF 
EDUCATION ESTABLISHMENT IN 
20/21 BY GENDER OF REFERRAL 

“In training, one of the caseworkers would say 
to professionals: “You need to think to yourself, 
are you a safe person for this young person to 
talk to? And by that, I mean, nothing that the 
young person says, is going to create blame 
and judgement” It actually works quite well, in 
terms of getting professionals to look inwards 
and actually be like, I’m not because I get on 
well with the kids, but I potentially would not 
know how to respond, or I wouldn’t respond 
in the right way, or I wouldn’t be able to hide 
what my face is thinking.”

P
age 71



20   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

DEMOGRAPHICS FOR  
R&R REFERRALS

 

 

COUNTY LINES AND CARE HOMES 
AND PLACEMENTS
•	 Placing young people in care homes and 

placements can reduce the immediate risk 
to young people at risk of County Lines 
or other forms of exploitation. However 
young people may also make new County 
Lines and gang links at new placements. 

•	 Risk assessments should explore the 
contextual risk around the young person 

COUNTY LINES AND  
VULNERABILITIES
Exploiters will try and identify vulnerabilities 
and groom accordingly. 

Young people that are referred to R&R tend 
to be bottom of the County Lines hierarchy 
and often these young people do not have 
an understanding of the risks involved 
around working on the lines, rather than 
them being targeted because of a specific 
disability or learning difficulties.

Caseworkers have noticed that some young 
people may be academically gifted, but 
not as capable in dealing with difficult or 
dangerous situations associated with  
criminal exploitation. 

SOCIAL CARE STATUS LEARNING DISABILITIES

6%
13%

FEMALE MALE

TABLE SHOWING PERCENTAGE 
OF YOUNG PEOPLE WITH A  
RECORDED DISABILITY IN 20/21 
BY GENDER OF REFERRAL 

59%
52%

FEMALE MALE

TABLE SHOWING PERCENTAGE 
OF YOUNG PEOPLE WITH A 
SOCIAL CARE STATUS IN 20/21 
BY GENDER OF REFERRAL 

53% of young people referred had a  
Social Care status at the time of referral 
(LAC, CIN or CP). This is a reduction 
from 59% recorded in year 2.

18% of referrals were for young people 
who are Looked After Children. This is a 
reduction from 31% recorded in year 2.  

53%

18%
12% of young people had at least  
1 disability recorded at time of referral. 
The most common continues to be 
ADHD, Autism and learning difficulties.  

12%

WITH REGARDS TO LEARNING 
DIFFICULTIES AND MENTAL HEALTH:
•	 R&R workers have sometimes had 

to push for assessments to be done. 
CAMHS waiting lists are high as is the 
threshold, and cases can be closed if one 
appointment is closed. Young people 
exploited in County Lines need patience 
and services may not always understand.

•	 Services seemed reluctant to recognise that 
a young person’s involvement with County 
Lines could be due to a vulnerability such 
as a learning disability and centred too 
heavily on the young person’s ability to 
make choices. 

as well at the risks within the placement 
itself whilst taking into consideration the 
voice of the young person. 

•	 Staff at care placements may not always 
be equipped to deal with the complexity 
of risk and may recruit agency staff 
which can lead to a transient workforce, 
and thus continuous training around 
understanding the complexity of County 
Lines is needed. 

•	 After two to three placements, young 
people are very much aware that care 
homes are a ‘holding place’ until they are 
over 18 or able to move out of the social 
care realm of responsibility. One R&R case 
worker has stated that no young person 
they have worked with has ever felt that a 
care placement feels like ‘home’.

P
age 72



21   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

DEMOGRAPHICS 
DEPRIVATION

Rescue and Response wanted to explore 
whether there was a correlation between 
referrals to the project and deprivation.

The Indices of Deprivation 2019*, are the 
Government’s primary measure of deprivation for 
small areas (LSOA’s) in England, and the Greater 
London Authority have calculated summary 
measures for wards in London. 

The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) combines 
measures across seven distinct aspects of 
deprivation. 

They include: 
Income, Employment, Education, Health,  
Crime, Barriers to Housing and Services,  
Living Environment

37% of wards with 5 or more referrals for London 
fall into the highest 20 percent of Index of Multiple 
Deprivation (IMD) score for London.

The Spearman’s Rank Correlation Coefficient for all 
referrals to the project against the IMD score is 0.46 
which indicates a low correlation. 

The maps on the right show the ward comparisons 
for the top three referring boroughs to Rescue and 
Response and the borough specific correlation. 

In conclusion, deprivation may be a factor towards 
County Lines, but it is not a significant enough 
singular factor to show a causality.

NEWHAM

•	 118 referrals received over 3 years
•	 is the 3rd most deprived London borough
•	 Forest Gate South and Little Ilford are 

second and third highest wards for 
referrals

•	 The Spearman’s Rank Correlation 
Coefficient for Newham is 0.49 which 
shows a moderate correlation.

BRENT

•	 107 referrals received over 3 years
•	 is the 10th most deprived London borough
•	 The Spearman’s Rank Correlation 

Coefficient for Brent is 0.24 which  
shows a low correlation.

LAMBETH

•	 98 referrals received over 3 years
•	 is the 11th most deprived London borough
•	 Coldharbour ward in Lambeth has the 

highest number of referrals than any  
other ward.

•	 The Spearman’s Rank Correlation 
Coefficient for Lambeth is 0.21 which 
shows a low correlation.

MAPS SHOWING THE DISTRIBUTION 
OF R&R REFERRALS BY WARD

MAPS SHOWING THE IMD AVERAGE 
SCORE BY WARDS

R&R 
REFERRALS
BY WARD
8 TO 11
5 TO 7
3 TO 4 
2 
1
0

INDEX 
OFMULTIPLE 
DEPRIVATION 
AVERAGE  
SCORE
35.5 TO 46.6 
29.6 TO 35.4 
24.3 TO 29.5 
18.7 TO 24.2 
12.5 TO 18.6 
0 TO 12.4 

NEWHAM

BRENT

LAMBETH

NEWHAM

BRENT

LAMBETH

P
age 73



22   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 202122   

UK MAP SHOWING LONDON INDIVIDUALS LINKED 
TO COUNTY LINES BY COUNTY FORCE AREA      
2020/21

COUNTY  
LINKS NO. OF 
INDIVIDUALS 
101 TO 240 (7)
45 TO 100 (7)
11 TO 44 (8)
5 TO 10 (7)
1 TO 4 (12)

WHICH WERE THE MOST 
PREVALENT COUNTY AREAS  
IN YEAR 3?
The county areas closest to London 
continue to have the highest recorded links 
to London County Lines individuals, and 
again, in particular those along the south 
coast.

The top county of Hampshire was ranked 
second in year 1 and first in year 2. Surrey 
and Suffolk have recorded an increase 
in the number of individuals in year 3 
compared to year 2.

NOTABLE INCREASES

Surrey and Suffolk have seen their recorded 
activity increase during year 3, moving Suffolk 
up into the top 10 table. Surrey has recorded a 
significant increase compared to year 2, jumping 
from 9th to 3rd most prevalent county area.

Of the total 1,784 individuals identified as 
having a link to County Lines, a county 
name was recorded for 95% of them. These 
links are shown mapped below by county 
police force area. 

NOTABLE DECREASES

Dorset saw the largest reduction, moving 
down 5 places, with Sussex and Thames Valley 
both moving down 3 places. Avon & Somerset 
saw reductions which moved this county out 
of the top 10 for year 3.

9/10
OF THE TOP 10 COUNTY 
FORCES REPORTED IN  

YEAR 2 HAVE REMAINED  
IN THE TOP 10

NORFOLK

SUFFOLK

ESSEX

BEDS

HERTS

SURREY

SUSSEX
HAMPSHIREAVON &

SOMERSET

DEVON &
CORNWALL

WILTSHIRE

DORSET

THAMES 
VALLEY

KENT

CAMBRIDGESHIRE

LINCOLNSHIRECHESHIRE

NORTH
WALES

SOUTH
WALES

GWENT
GLOUCESTERSHIRE

WEST
MERCIADYFED

POWYS

LEICESTERSHIRE

STAFFORDSHIRE

DERBYSHIRE
NOTTS

NORT
HAMPT

ONSH
IREWEST

MIDLANDS

WARWICKSHIRE

HAMPSHIRE	 240	 1	 1
KENT	 162	 2	 5
SURREY	 145	 3	 9
ESSEX	 122	 4	 7
SUSSEX	 119	 5	 2
THAMES VALLEY	 109	 6	 3
NORFOLK	 102	 7	 6
SUFFOLK	 100	 8	 11
DORSET	 83	 9	 4
CAMBRIDGESHIRE	 79	 10	 8

TOP 10 
COUNTY FORCES

INDIVIDUALS
LINKED

20/21
RANKING

19/20
RANKING

NORFOLK

SUFFOLK

ESSEX

BEDS

HERTS

SURREY

SUSSEX
HAMPSHIREAVON &

SOMERSET

DEVON &
CORNWALL

WILTSHIRE

DORSET

THAMES 
VALLEY

KENT

CAMBRIDGESHIRE

LINCOLNSHIRECHESHIRE

NORTH
WALES

SOUTH
WALES

GWENT
GLOUCESTERSHIRE

WEST
MERCIADYFED

POWYS

LEICESTERSHIRE

STAFFORDSHIRE

DERBYSHIRE
NOTTS

NORT
HAMPT

ONSH
IREWEST

MIDLANDS

WARWICKSHIRE

P
age 74



23   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

NORFOLK

SUFFOLK
Ipswich

Cambridge

ESSEX

BEDS

HERTS

SURREY

SUSSEX

HAMPSHIREAVON &
SOMERSET

DEVON &
CORNWALL

WILTSHIRE

DORSET

THAMES 
VALLEY

KENT

CAMBRIDGESHIRE

LINCOLNSHIRECHESHIRE

NORTH
WALES

SOUTH
WALES

GWENT
GLOUCESTERSHIRE

WEST
MERCIADYFED

POWYS

LEICESTERSHIRE

STAFFORDSHIRE

DERBYSHIRE
NOTTS

NORT
HAMPT

ONSH
IREWEST

MIDLANDS

WARWICKSHIRE

Swansea

Portsmouth

Southend

Medway
Guildford

Southampton

Basingstoke

Brighton

23   

UK MAP SHOWING LONDON INDIVIDUALS LINKED 
TO COUNTY LINES BY ASSOCIATED TOWN       
2020/21

COUNTY LINKS 
NO. OF 
INDIVIDUALS 
101 TO 240 (7)
45 TO 100 (7)
11 TO 44 (8)
5 TO 10 (7)
1 TO 4 (12)

WHICH WERE THE MOST 
PREVALENT COUNTY TOWNS  
IN YEAR 3?
Brighton has moved from the top 
recorded town in 19/20 to a ranking of 
9, whereas Ipswich now moves to the 
top most recorded town with a total 
of 31 London individuals known to be 
linked with County Lines activity there.

8/10
OF THE TOP 10 COUNTY 
TOWNS REPORTED IN  

YEAR 2 HAVE REMAINED  
IN THE TOP 10 IPSWICH	 31	 1	 7

CAMBRIDGE	 25	 2	 2
PORTSMOUTH	 21	 3	 4
SOUTHAMPTON	 21	 4	 3
SWANSEA	 16	 5	 10
BASINGSTOKE	 15	 6	 5
GUILDFORD	 14	 7	 52
SOUTHEND	 14	 8	 12
BRIGHTON	 13	 9	 1
MEDWAY	 12	 10	 6

TOP 10 
COUNTY TOWNS

INDIVIDUALS
LINKED

20/21
RANKING

19/20
RANKING

NOTABLE INCREASES

Southend and Guildford have seen 
a significant increase on the year 3 
reporting. This trend has lead to these 
two towns moving into the top 10 
county town list. 

Of the total 1,784 individuals identified as having 
a link to County Lines, we have specific county 
towns recorded for 29% of them. This is compared 
to 59% in year 2. The top ten county towns are 
reflected below, with the majority of them sitting 
within one of the top ten county areas.

NOTABLE DECREASES

Bournemouth and Northampton were 
ranked 8th and 9th on the last year reporting 
table; in the year 3 they have seen a 
significant reduction and are no longer  
listed as a top 10 county towns.

P
age 75



24   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 202124   

R&R RESCUE 
REQUESTS
26 TO 54 (1)
16 TO 25 (5)
4 TO 15 (7)
1 TO 3 (3)

WHERE IN UK DID R&R RESCUE  
YOUNG PEOPLE FROM?

Sussex and Hampshire account for 
a 40% of all rescues completed. This 
correlates with both counties featuring 
highly in the NCLCC data on London 
individuals linked to County Lines, with 
Hampshire ranking top for the past 2 
years and Sussex ranking 2nd in 19/20.

RESCUE REQUESTS

Most of the rescue requests were received 
from Sussex (54) and Hampshire (25). Top 5 
counties have submitted  64% of all rescue 
requests. 

RESCUES

Although not all rescue request resulted in 
a rescue, the number of rescues has been 
steadily increasing in 20/21. A total  

The R&R Rescue service is operated by  
St Giles Trust, who offer an immediate ‘rescue’ 
for young Londoners up to the age of 25 who 
have come into contact with authorities through 
suspected County Lines in areas outside of 
London. This could be a young person taken 
into police protection, coming into contact 
with British Transport Police or being bailed 
from a custody suite or court. The Rescue team 
operate a 24/7 helpline to offer support and 
will carry out rescues between 9am-10pm, by 
collecting the young person by car and driving 
them back home to London. St Giles Trust 
Outreach workers with lived experience will use 
this ‘teachable moment’ to discuss the risks of 
County Lines with the young person and discuss 
options for continued engagement with R&R. 
For rescue requests from counties further afield, 
the team will sometimes try and ‘meet halfway’ 
with county force polices to facilitate a longer-
distance rescue.

A total of 208 rescue requests were received and 
78 rescues carried out since the beginning of 
the project to April 2021. These are represented 
below according to the county that have 
submitted the rescue request. Table represents 
the number of rescue requests and rescues that 
have taken place in these counties.

of 35 rescues were completed between May 
2020 and April 2021. The St Giles Trust team 
operating the rescue service is a small unit 
and cannot always facilitate a rescue request 
due to limited capacity, particularly when 
requests are made at very short notice with 
significant travel times. Where R&R cannot 
carry out the rescue, our team will endeavour 
to facilitate the rescue through liaison with 
local authorities through our borough SPOCs.

SUSSEX	 54	 21
HAMPSHIRE	 25	 10
THAMES VALLEY	 19	 7
SUFFOLK	 18	 9
KENT	 18	 5
NORFOLK	 17	 5
DEVON & CORNWALL	 10	 6
DORSET	 9	 4
LONDON	 9	 3
ESSEX	 6	 3
SCOTLAND	 6	 1
CAMBRIDGESHIRE	 5	 2
AVON & SOMERSET	 4	 0
SOUTH WALES	 4	 1
SURREY	 2	 1
HERTFORDSHIRE	 1	 0
WEST MIDLANDS	 1	 0

COUNTY FORCE
RESCUES

REQUESTS RESCUES

NORFOLK

SUFFOLK

ESSEX

BEDS

HERTS

SURREY

SUSSEX
HAMPSHIREAVON &

SOMERSET

DEVON &
CORNWALL

WILTSHIRE

DORSET

THAMES 
VALLEY

KENT

CAMBRIDGESHIRE

LINCOLNSHIRECHESHIRE

NORTH
WALES

SOUTH
WALES

GWENT
GLOUCESTERSHIRE

WEST
MERCIADYFED

POWYS

LEICESTERSHIRE

STAFFORDSHIRE

DERBYSHIRE
NOTTS

NORT
HAMPT

ONSH
IREWEST

MIDLANDS

WARWICKSHIRE

MPS

RESCUE AND RESPONSE       
RESCUE SERVICE

P
age 76



25   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

CROSS-CUTTING THEME  
YOUNG WOMEN AND GIRLS 

In this section we will see a summary of the 
work and findings of our Abianda Gender 
Consultant, Jocelyn Yeboah-Newton. In the past 
year Jocelyn has dealt with some incredibly 
high-risk cases relating to vulnerable girls, and 
in doing so, has made a series of observations 
and recommendations from her experiences of 
challenges that reflect wider issues concerning  
our response and safeguarding of young women 
and girls.

CULTURAL CONTEXT
In the complex cases presented, many were from marginalised 
groups, and were of colour. This often resulted in them being 
subjected to adultification by professionals, society and 
perpetrators (The Children’s Society, 2018). Creating barriers to 
early intervention and misinterpretation of trauma-informed 
presentations and behaviours of young children and womxn. 

Imkaan and University of Warwickshire (2015), found that the 
lack of interrogation across the sexual violence sector into the 
range of barriers linked to language, poverty, immigration and 
culture of Black and Minority Ethnic communities is diverse 
and nuanced. Not understanding these factors and including 
this insight into the safeguarding and supportive measures 
of women and girls from these communities can significantly 
impact how they engage with the support offered and whether 
they are kept safe. 

SUMMARY HIGHLIGHTS:
•	 Increasing level of complexity young women are 

experiencing

•	 Abianda’s response to the changing complexity 
and the potential impact on resources

•	 The level of systemic injustices some cases have 
had to navigate

•	 The need for a more coordinated and strategic 
response across and outside of the partnership

KEY OBSERVATIONS:
•	 Missed opportunities to investigate potential 

network of perpetrators/ exploiters 

•	 Indicators of sexual trauma and the initial 
disclosure of harm were not responded to with the 
appropriate actions for the vulnerabilities presented  

•	 Intelligence not used to safeguard the children 
holistically or contextually

•	 Missed opportunities for earlier intervention at 
several stages of some cases 

•	 Cultural factors were not considered in the 
potential differing models of CSE and perceived 
level of risk and vulnerabilities

•	 NRMs were either not updated by all respective 
professionals involved and/or, had no outcomes 
to report despite a vast amount of professionals 
involved

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR NEXT STEPS:
•	 Professionals actively aware of the victims’ age, 

vulnerability, and cultural context

•	 Support to escalate case support across the MPS 
and Social Care

•	 Collaborative contributions from the professional 
network for NRMs

•	 Ensuring consistently proactive support from 
MPS, including Exploitation Units to help explore 
intelligence shared

•	 Professionals aware of indicators of complex 
trauma and exploitation

•	 Timely outcomes of NRMs

•	 Victimless investigations and prosecutions

•	 Influence in legal advice, housing, and trauma-
informed therapeutic interventions + risk 
mapping 

OVERVIEW OF ABIANDA GENDER CONSULTANCY  
BY JOCELYN YEBOAH-NEWTON

P
age 77



26   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

CROSS-CUTTING THEME  
YOUNG WOMEN AND GIRLS 
GENDER CONSULTANCY 

PROFESSIONALS ATTENDING THE TRAINING 
REPRESENTED A BROAD VARIETY OF SECTORS 
AND SERVICES

Work Coaches - DWP, Job Centre Plus 
Child Exploitation Leads - MPS
Social Workers - CSC 
Lawyers - Just for Kids Law  
Mental Health Nurses - NHS
Case Workers + Practitioners - Third Sector 
Youth Workers - Community Centres 
Custody Suite Officers - MPS 
Youth Offending Teams
Youth Justice Teams
Integrated Youth Teams
Teachers across Colleges, Schools and  
Alternative Education 
Targeted Early Help
Sexual Health Nurses - NHS 
Social Justice Interns 
Social Work Students 
National Probation Service 
Safeguarding Leads Across LA,  
Third Sector, and Education 

TRAINING 
SESSIONS

PROFESSIONALS 
TRAINED

20/21
ACTUAL

DELIVERY

23

1027

TRAINING DELIVERY 

The Abianda Gender Consultant role was 
introduced in July 2020 and delivered 23 
training sessions to 1027 professionals during 
the year 20/21. The training ‘Young Womxn, 
Girls, Gangs & County Lines’ helps support 
frontline professionals to address the specific 
needs of young women and girls at risk of 
County Lines exploitation.

CASE CONSULTATIONS 

Abianda’s Gender Consultancy adds value to 
the systems change element of the Rescue and 
Response project. The core element of the role 
is to offer support to professionals supporting 
young women and girls who are experiencing 
County Lines exploitation, strength-based, 
solution-focused and young women-led tools 
of support through case consultations and 
training. This aims to support a much-needed 
shift in culture and create systems change 
practice.

P
age 78



27   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

CROSS-CUTTING THEME  
YOUNG WOMEN AND GIRLS 
DEMOGRAPHICS 
ETHNICITY

Ethnicity of female referrals into R&R differs 
quite significantly from the ethnicity of our 
overall project cohort. White females have 
been the most referred group in years 2 and 
3, with a slight reduction of 2% in the last 
year. Black females followed closely in year 2 
and year 3, marginally increasing by 1%.

Mixed ethnicity saw the greatest fluctuation, 
with a 7% increase in year 3. The breakdown 
of this Mixed cohort in 20/21 is as follows: 

Mixed - White and Asian (1%)
Mixed – Other (5%)
Mixed - White and Black (19%)

It is important to recognise that even though 
we have a larger quantity of referrals for 
White females, the residential population 
of White individuals in London is much 
greater than that of the Black population, 
meaning that proportionately we have the 
largest representation of Black females in 
our referral cohort. The breakdown of the 
Mixed ethnicity group also shows that the 
White and Black group is by far the largest 
sub-group.

“We’re human beings, we support them 
(young women) to feel safe, to feel able to try 
to make changes in their life that may, if they 
hadn’t come through this project they may 
never have been able to do. We provide them 
spaces to explore their self esteem, their needs, 
and what they want for the rest of their life.”
Abianda Practitioner

19/20

20/21

WHITE

39%

37%

BLACK

31%

32%

MIXED

18%

25%

ASIAN

7%

4%

ARAB

3%

2%

UNKNOWN

2%

0%

45.00%

40.00%

35.00%

30.00%

25.00%

20.00%

15.00%

10.00%

5.00%

0.00%

19/20

20/21

P
age 79



28   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

AGE AT TIME OF REFERRAL

As we have seen with the overall age 
demographic, female referrals significantly 
‘drop off’ after the age of 18, which 
continues to substantiate our concerns  
of underreporting in early-adult years.

However, year 3 data demonstrates that 
we have had an increase in referrals for 
18 to 21 year olds compared with the 
previous year. Furthermore, year 3 saw 
fewer referrals for the younger female age 
groups referred into R&R, with reductions 
in the 13 to 15 year olds range.

19/20

20/21

CROSS CUTTING THEME  
YOUNG WOMEN AND GIRLS  
DEMOGRAPHICS

25

20

15

10

5

0
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25

AGE

RE
FE

RR
A

LS

P
age 80



29   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

CROSS-CUTTING THEME  
YOUNG WOMEN AND GIRLS
BOROUGH ENGAGEMENT 

From our overall project top referrers in year 3, we can see that the 
top 10 boroughs are referring young women and girls into R&R at 
very varied amounts. Many of these boroughs experienced drastic 
changes in the percentage of YW referred in the past year compared 
to 19/20. 

•	 Ealing had the largest shift, with a reduction from what was the 
highest proportion of referrals for YW in 19/20 at 42%, down to 
7% in 20/21.

•	 Croydon also saw a similar shift, having a large uptake in overall 
referrals but much fewer for YW.

•	 Newham, Lambeth and Barking and Dagenham were the only 
boroughs here who increased their proportion of referrals for YW 
in the past year.

•	 Barnet have not referred any females over year 2 and 3, which 
may indicate that further engagement is required to highlight 
exploitation of females or that Barnet is having a different 
experience regarding gender and County Lines exploitation.

TOP 10 REFERRING BOROUGHS

NEWHAM	 43	 12%	 48	 23%

LAMBETH	 24	 4%	 42	 12%

CROYDON 	 28	 32%	 39	 8%

BRENT	 37	 22%	 35	 14%

EALING	 19	 42%	 30	 7%

BARKING & 
DAGENHAM	 17	 0%	 29	 10%

HARINGEY	 18	 22%	 27	 19%

HARROW	 25	 20%	 26	 4%

BARNET	 22	 0%	 24	 0%

SOUTHWARK	 20	 25%	 24	 13%

TOTAL
REFERRALS

2019/20 2020/21
% OF YW
REFERRALS

TOTAL
REFERRALS

% OF YW
REFERRALS

Training was offered to all London Boroughs and 
delivered on a quadrant basis (North, East, South  
and West). 

Waltham Forest is an example of a borough with 
good engagement with our young women and girls 
service, where Abianda has a strong presence in the 
Exploitation and Risk Panel, which has seen an increase 
of young women being identified as at risk of CSE and 
CL exploitation. Abianda and Waltham Forest have 
ensured that young women who were appropriate 
for referral were offered an intervention through R&R. 
Additionally, Waltham Forest also have a high uptake  
of the borough training offer.

TRAINING

P
age 81



30   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

CASE STUDY  
ABIANDA 

30   

OVERVIEW 

When the young woman was referred into the 
service, she faced multiple risks including threat 
to life; challenging and exploitative relationships 
within the family; ongoing missing episodes, a 
long history of non-engagement with support 
services; a history of harm and abuse and 
multiple criminal charges.

RESPONSE 
The Abianda practitioner was able to provide a safe and 
trusting space where the young woman could be safe 
from the current issues, risks and fears in her life, be led by 
the young woman’s felt needs, hold space for the young 
woman and build trust for conversations to begin, which 
allowed her to build a rapport with our practitioner.

Once aware of all issues that were present, the practitioner 
was able to connect with the appropriate services whilst 
ensuring that the existing professional network understood 
how to best engage and understand her needs. 

The network included social services, police, mental health 
services and independent advocates. The practitioner 
played a role in galvanising the network, ensuring the young 
woman’s case remained open to make certain support 

would be provided. Support for the family was also sought, as 
they faced numerous risks due to the young woman’s current 
circumstances. This improved family support and dynamics, 
having a huge impact on her own family relationships.

OUTCOME 
When the work began, the young woman would not call 
or text any professionals, whereas now she calls, texts and 
arranges her own appointments and meetings. 

There has been a huge shift in her involvement with her own 
advocacy, she now engages with her mental health team, 
social worker and is seen by a specialist service to identify 
and take care of her own physical and mental health.

Her missing episodes have reduced and she is assessing 
past relationships which were unsafe. 

The young woman is now aware how services work and 
what they require from her to be able to support her. She 
was previously unable to regulate her emotions or prioritise 
her own mental wellbeing, now she has hope for the future 
and is exploring art as a means of grounding. She is now 
taking her court proceedings seriously and has understood 
the impact of criminal charges on her life, she continues to 
engage well with her legal team. 

The young woman’s emotional wellbeing is improving, she 
is setting and achieving goals for herself and is able to talk 
about her wellbeing needs and, seeking out support.

“Thank god she has you, no-one else gets it, 
they can’t see what’s happening to her. “

…a family member thanks us consistently for 
our efforts to support the young woman in a 
way that works for her and never makes them 
feel excluded.” 

P
age 82



31   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

CROSS-CUTTING THEME  
THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC 

The COVID-19 pandemic has had an impact 
on County Lines activity and the young people 
being supported through the project, mostly 
related to their mental health and wellbeing. 
R&R project referrals have not been affected 
much by the pandemic, as we received  
598 referrals in year 3 in comparison to  
553 referrals in year 2.

THE IMPACT OF THE LOCKDOWN  
ENVIRONMENT ON R&R
Factor 1: Adapting to a new way of working with the 
young people referred to the project. All activities for 
young people were coordinated while working remotely.  
Challenging to engage a young person virtually, with 
factors such as lack of eye contact having an impact on 
effective communication and building trust in caseworker 
relationships. 

Factor 2: Local lockdowns and the Tier system impacted 
the way rescues were conducted and special safety 
measures had to be considered to make the vehicles 
suitable for continued use. The safety of the Outreach 
rescue team was also a concern, as we had to be mindful 
of staff members who presented as having an increased 
risk or cohabiting with vulnerable people.

THE IMPACT OF COVID-19  
ON MENTAL HEALTH 

Isolation 
Young people reportedly struggled with the isolation that 
the pandemic had created.

Increase in substance misuse 
The demand for drugs during the lockdown period was 
reportedly very high.

Safe spaces closed 
Having nowhere to go caused young people to be more 
stressed and affected their behaviour.

Opportunities decreasing 
Lack of job opportunities may have led to increased 
mental health issues and anxiety.

Undiagnosed MH 
Services across the board were disrupted, which in turn 
may have had an impact on the earlier intervention of 
mental health diagnosis.

P
age 83



32   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

HOW DID THIS IMPACT THE RISKS  
POSED TO YOUNG PEOPLE?
Insight from Service Manager, Safer London: 

“Our R&R practitioners worked tirelessly throughout a difficult 
year that saw an increase in COVID-19 cases, a national 
lockdown and public uncertainty to deliver intervention 
support to children and young Londoners being exploited 
by criminal gangs to do County Lines. From the view of a 
young Londoner that was referred in 2019 and the case was 
not closed throughout the COVID 19 Pandemic due to the 
support needs and risk factors that made them susceptible 
to County Lines gangs. The young person’s journey went 
from going ‘country’ every day to no involvement in County 
Lines. However, working with Mental Health and Wellbeing 
specialists the young person became increasingly anxious 
and agitated following the announcement of the second 
lockdown, the lack of predictability around COVID-19 
and the level of changes to government guidelines. The 
young person had a good working relationship with the 
lead practitioner and contacted her multiple times outside 
of sessions to share positive news (hearing about new 
and exciting job opportunities) and also when they were 
struggling (especially around the COVID-19 pandemic), 

finding navigating the uncertainty overwhelming and facing 
concerns around the long-term, global consequences of 
the virus. The young person was proud of the journey 
they had been on with our provider and spoke at length 
about their goals and aspirations in life. The young person 
vented frustrations around COVID-19, scepticism around 
the government’s response and specifically fears around the 
vaccine, in that they would develop further difficulties.”

REFERRALS OVER THE COVID-19 PERIOD
The referrals comparison from years 2 and 3 are very 
similar, particularly from September through to March, 
where the referral pattern is almost identical year on year. 
This demonstrates that we saw no real change in referral 
rates pre-Covid-19 compared to when we were at the 
height of the pandemic.

CROSS CUTTING THEME  
THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC

100

80

60

40

20

0

MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR

2019/20 2020/21

P
age 84



33   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

CASE STUDY  
SAFER LONDON 

33   

OVERVIEW 

A young person aged 17 was referred following a hospital attendance for a severe injury to their 
hand where it was found that the young person had been exploited to engage in County Lines and 
the injury was directly linked. The young person was at risk from criminal gangs, although had not 
disclosed who the perpetrators were. The young person had no access to income which may have 
been a driver for County Lines. This was also a barrier to accessing education and training. 

RESPONSE 
The person’s safety was a major concern during the initial 
stages and continued to be the focus throughout his 
intervention support. The young person was provided 
interim housing outside of the ‘area’. Eventually the 
young person returned to his local borough and the Safer 
London support worker shared this information to wider 
professionals, who were able to work collaboratively to 
implement an effective safety plan.

The young person was initially NEET (Not in Education, 
Employment or Training) at referral stage but had 
aspirations to work in the construction industry. The lead 
worker and young person explored this in one to one 
sessions and developed an action plan to support the 
young person to achieve his goals.

 

During initial stages, the young person was exhibiting  
clear signs of PTSD and smoked cannabis frequently to cope 
with the situation he found himself in. This was regularly 
reviewed during intervention. The young person struggled 
to cope during lockdown and needed constant reassurance 
from his professional network. During intervention, positive 
coping strategies and resilience building was explored. The 
young person reflected on previous positive coping strategies 
he used, such as riding his bike.

The young person now states that he now knows the 
difference between positive and negative influences and 
could identify a healthy/unhealthy relationship. The young 
person was often praised during professional meetings for his 
engagement and politeness.

OUTCOME 
The young person has had no further involvement with the 
YOS and maintains that he is no longer offending. The young 
person has not come to the attention of the police since 
his exploitation and subsequent engagement with Safer 
London. Access to ETE (Education, Training and Employment) 
was improved by providing continuous advocacy for this 
young person. The young person accessed the Safer London 
‘Hardship Fund’ to get a laptop and now has a clear direction 
of what he would like to achieve in life and has a better 
understanding of the steps needed to achieve these goals.  
The young person is currently engaging with Skills Training 
and has attended job fairs and interviews.

The young person’s physical and mental health have improved, 
and there has been a noticeable difference from when first 
referred. There have been no concerns around offending  
since his referral to R&R.

“The young person has noted improvements 
since first being referred. The main 
improvements being more open, improvements 
in mental health and comfortability travelling, 
feeling more motivated with education and 
seeking work.”

P
age 85



34   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

CROSS-CUTTING THEME  
NATIONAL REFERRAL MECHANISM 
(NRM) 

The project has seen a year on year increase in NRMs supported by R&R service providers. 
This includes providing evidence to support the Conclusive Grounds decision making process 
and providing advocacy on behalf of the young person for their NRM to be factored into 
Criminal Justice proceedings. We also have R&R staff members participating in the local NRM 
decision making pilots in North and West London.

NRMs in general have drastically increased over the past 4 years, predominantly due to the 
large numbers of male children being referred (See Home Office graph). Since January 2020, 
a flag within the NRM digital casework system identifies County Lines referrals. For those 
exploited as children, an increase in the identification of County Lines cases has partially 
driven the rise in the number of cases categorised within the ‘criminal exploitation’ category, 
with 40% of all child referrals for criminal exploitation being flagged as County Lines.

TOTAL NUMBER OF NRM REFERRALS  
FROM 2017 TO JUNE 2021 (HOME OFFICE, 2021)

NRMS SUPPORTED  
BY R&R

400

300

200

100

0
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

N
U

M
BE

R 
O

F 
N

RM
 R

EF
ER

RA
LS

ADULT MALEADULT FEMALE CHILD MALECHILD FEMALE

TOTAL

176

YEAR 2

51
YEAR 1

44
YEAR 3

81

P
age 86



35   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

NATIONAL REFERRAL MECHANISM (NRM)

OVERALL NRM CONCLUSIVE  
GROUNDS DECISIONS
In 2020, the Single Competent Authority 
made 3,454 conclusive grounds decisions, 
a slight decrease from 3,616 made in 2019. 
Of the conclusive grounds decisions made 
in 2020, 89% (3,084) were positive and 
11% (370) were negative. The proportion 
of positive conclusive grounds decisions 
was higher for child potential victims (95%; 
1,556) than adults (84%; 1,453). The average 
(median) time taken from referral to a 
conclusive grounds decision made in 2020 
was 339 days.

COUNTY LINES FLAGGED NRMS
In 2020, 1,544 referrals were flagged as 
County Lines referrals, accounting for 15% 
of referrals received and an increase of 31% 
from 2019. The majority (81%; 1,247) of these 
referrals were for male children.

1400

1200

1000

800

600

400

200

0

N
U

M
BE

R 
O

F 
N

RM
 R

EF
ER

RA
LS

2017 2018 2019 2020

NUMBER OF NRM REFERRALS FLAGGED AS COUNTY LINES,  
BY AGE GROUP AT EXPLOITATION AND GENDER (HOME OFFICE, 2020)

ADULT MALEADULT FEMALE CHILD MALECHILD FEMALE

P
age 87



36   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

NATIONAL REFERRAL MECHANISM (NRM)

THE R V BRECANI RULING AND THE FUTURE  
OF NRMS IN THE YOUTH JUSTICE

R v Brecani is a judgment that was handed 
down on the 19th May 2021 by the Lord 
Chief Justice of England and Wales. The 
judgment has sent shockwaves through both 
the legal profession and those who work with 
vulnerable victims of modern day slavery. 
In summary the Court of Appeal has held the following:

•	 The Single Competent Authority case worker’s findings 
of Conclusive Grounds, is not admissible in evidence in a 
criminal trial and;

•	 A Single Competent Authority case worker cannot give 
expert evidence of their findings (of Conclusive Grounds) 
as they are not experts.

WHAT’S NEXT FOR NRMS?
•	 This ruling is likely to be a major setback for those 

concentrating their efforts on highlighting criminal 
exploitation during both police investigations into 
County Lines and the subsequent criminal justice 
process. There will now be much more reliance on the 
police to proactively seek out and provide evidence of 
modern day slavery.

•	 Despite the challenge of NRM admissibility, as a project 
we will continue to support the NRM process. One 
of the major benefits of a County Lines related NRM 
referral is that a crime report will automatically be 
created for the instance of criminal exploitation to be 
investigated by police. Therefore, giving rise to the 
opportunity for exploiters to be identified and victims to 
use the Section 45 defence under the Modern Slavery 
Act 2015.

P
age 88



37   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

CASE STUDY  
ST GILES TRUST 

37   

OVERVIEW 

A young person was referred to R&R following an arrest related to County Lines in 
Essex. This was the second time that the young person had been arrested, but the 
first time relating to County Lines as well the first time for the family reporting the 
young person going missing. Essex police made the referral to R&R and at the time 
the young person was not working with a Social Worker or any other professional 
support services. The young person communicated his needs to obtain confidential 
legal advice regarding the arrest and pending charges for a drugs supply offence. 
Fears were that this would irreversibly and detrimentally affect the young person’s 
future prospects and as he was 18 years old, he would likely receive a custodial 
sentence.

RESPONSE 
Legal advice was sought via other resources, such as the 
R&R coordinator, Just for Kids Law, Human Trafficking 
Foundation and Philippa Southwell (Consultant Solicitor, 
expert in Exploitation/CCE). The relevant information 
relating to the young person’s concerns was provided 
and at the same time maintaining the young person’s 
anonymity as requested. 

The legal information acquired enabled the young person 
to make a decision about whether or not he would 
consent to an NRM referral, for which he did later consent. 

This also helped alleviate stress about his pending charges.

Support plans were also introduced, which enabled the young 
person to work towards some positive goals. The young 
person’s over-arching goal was to own his own business one 
day and he wanted to study business at university. Short term 
goals consisted of completing the Police bail requirements and 
seeking legal advice. These were both achieved, which further 
built on the trust in the working relationship as well as helping 
the young person to move out of a very stressful mind space.

 

OUTCOME 
The young person completed his police bail successfully 
and has not gone missing for the duration of working with 
St Giles Trust. The young person has not been involved in 
any criminal activity or come to police attention. The young 
person has done extremely well academically and received 
offers from multiple universities, eventually settling on his 
preferred option. At the time of publishing, the young 
person still awaits a conclusive grounds decision regarding 
his NRM referral.

“The young person’s relationships with his 
family have significantly improved and 
he is able to go out freely whilst in open 
communication with parents. I have also 
heard from the young person’s father who has 
spoken of how different the young person has 
been since his engagement with R&R. He said 
that he was extremely proud of his son and 
has thanked us profusely. I shared that the 
young person’s achievements were due to his 
own commitment and determination.”

P
age 89



38   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

RESCUE AND RESPONSE PROJECT   
OUTCOMES & IMPACT 

PROJECT OUTCOMES FOR  
INITIAL 3-YEAR PROJECT
1.	 Minimum of 600 YP case worked 
2.	 Reduction in recorded criminal behaviour 
3.	 Increase in number of YP identified as being exploited 
4.	 Increase in engagement with services 
5.	 Better understanding of the problem and networks 
6.	 Increase in number of YP identified as being at risk
7. 	 Increased knowledge of the risk for young women  

associated with County Lines/criminal networks
8.	 Increased feelings of safety and reduced feelings of vulnerability
9.	 400 front line workers trained
10.	Increase in referrals to NRM
11.	 Increase in referrals to family support services
12.	Increase in number of CSE cases referred to safeguarding  

and increased links between London and regional services
13.	Decrease missing episodes for engaging cohort	

In this section we will look back at the initial project outcomes 
agreed with MOPAC during the design and rollout of the  
Rescue and Response initiative. 

This is the first time that we are reporting back on the overall project outcomes 
over the full duration of the project to date, so we are hoping to demonstrate the 
effectiveness and success of the intervention so far. The ability to track outcomes over 
a 3 year period has allowed us to develop a more comprehensive insight into the 
longer-term impact driven by the project, tracking some indicators both before and 
after allocation, which enables us to monitor the behavioural changes achieved.

Of the 707 referrals accepted onto the project 
over a 3 year period, 454 were case worked, 
falling short of the initial target of 600. As a 
newly introduced initiative it can be difficult 
to estimate realistically achievable targets. 
The project has operated with a waiting list 
continuously since the early days, meaning 
that R&R Partnership Coordinators would 
often seek local provision or alternative 
interventions for referrals received to avoid 
young people having to wait too long to be 
allocated to an R&R provider. In order for us 
to increase our numbers of young people 

case worked, we would either need an uplift 
in staffing capacity or we would need to 
introduce time limits for intervention periods, 
which to date have been very flexible and 
seen young people case worked for longer 
periods, sometimes exceeding 1 year.

1. MINIMUM OF 600 YP CASE WORKED

1,667
REFERRALS
RECEIVED

707
ACCEPTED

454
CASE

WORKED

P
age 90



39   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

RESCUE AND RESPONSE PROJECT  
OUTCOMES & IMPACT

To get an initial indication of the impact of 
the R&R intervention on recorded criminal 
behaviour, we examined a dip sample of 
50 young people who had engaged with 
R&R and completed the intervention. 
We looked at the number of convictions 
recorded on PNC (Police National 
Computer) for 1 year prior to allocation 
and 1 year after allocation. The results of 
our representative sample do correlate 
with the feedback from service providers 
regarding the impact of R&R on criminal 
offending.

Overall, the majority of young people who 
engaged with R&R experienced a reduction 
in arrests and offending. 34 of the 50 dip 
sampled had no previous convictions, which 
supports the frequently cited view that ‘clean 
skins’ are recruited specifically by exploiters. 
Of those that did have previous convictions at 
the point of referral, 75% (n=12) experienced 
a reduction in recorded offending after R&R 
engagement. 92% (n=11) of the ‘reduced 
offending’ group reduced their offending 
down to zero convictions in the year following 
R&R engagement. For the group who had 
previously been arrested prior to referral,  
65% (n=20) experienced a reduction in  
arrests in the year following engagement.

*Based on dip sample of 50 young people who 
engaged with R&R.

2. REDUCTION IN RECORDED 
CRIMINAL BEHAVIOUR 75%

92%

65%

REDUCED 
OFFENDING 
– FOR 
INDIVIDUALS 
WITH PRIOR 
CONVICTIONS 
AT POINT OF 
REFERRAL*

OF THIS GROUP 
REDUCED 
OFFENDING 
DOWN TO 
ZERO IN YEAR 
AFTER R&R 
ENGAGEMENT*

REDUCTION IN 
ARRESTS – FOR 
INDIVIDUALS 
WITH PRIOR 
ARRESTS AT 
POINT OF 
REFERRAL*

P
age 91



40   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

RESCUE AND RESPONSE PROJECT  
OUTCOMES & IMPACT

Prior to the launch of Rescue and Response 
in 2018, there was no pan-London 
approach to monitoring the numbers 
of young people exploited through 
County Lines, so it is difficult to measure 
an increase in the numbers identified. 

The calculation for engagement is made 
by taking the number of referrals accepted 
onto the project against the number 
engaged by service providers.

Engagement rates saw a large increase 
going from year 1 into year 2 as the project 
became more established and remedied 
any initial teething troubles.

As the Covid-19 pandemic struck, we were 
unable to maintain this higher level of 
engagement and saw a slight dip in year 3 
by 5%, although still a substantial increase 
on year 1. This reduction is believed to be 
associated with the challenges of engaging 
young people remotely online, but we are 
grateful that engagement rates were not 
more significantly affected by this challenge.

The table across shows the referral 
engagement with external services during 
the past year 20/21, demonstrating the 
breadth of partners working with R&R.

3. 4.INCREASE IN NUMBER OF YP 
IDENTIFIED AS BEING EXPLOITED 

INCREASE IN ENGAGEMENT 
WITH SERVICES  

However, each year of the project to date has 
seen relatively high and consistent numbers 
of young people referred as victims of County 
Lines exploitation, resulting in us having a 
much more accurate overview of the quantity 
of young people involved.

1 32YEAR 1

568 
YP

YEAR 2

553 
YP

YEAR 3

598 
YP

1 32YEAR 1

53% 
YEAR 2

69% 
YEAR 3

64% 

SERVICE	 NO.
CHILDREN SOCIAL CARE	 152
YOUTH OFFENDING SERVICE	 125
EDUCATION	 100
HOUSING	 65
FAMILY SUPPORT	 61
EMPLOYMENT	 54
EMOTIONAL & MENTAL HEALTH 	 53
HEALTH	 42
CRIME & OFFENDING	 38
CRC	 33
FINANCE & BENEFITS	 31
DRUGS & ALCOHOL	 27
ADULT SOCIAL CARE	 25
RELATIONSHIP SUPPORT	 10
VAWG	 2
OTHER	 1

ONWARD REFERRALS ENGAGEMENT 20/21

RESCUE AND RESPONSE REFERRALS

P
age 92



41   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

RESCUE AND RESPONSE PROJECT  
OUTCOMES & IMPACT

Yearly Strategic Analysis for 3 years has 
allowed us to better understand the volume 
of young people affected by CL exploitation, 
confirm the characteristics most frequently 
attributed to victims of exploitation and 
their geographic locations across London. 
Cross referencing this with data from NCLCC 
also indicates which boroughs may have 
an exploitation problem that is potentially 

Due to the large volume of young people 
referred into the project, to date we have 
predominantly worked with those who are 
already subject to exploitation through County 
Lines, rather than those at-risk of County Lines 
exploitation. Working with this cohort has kept 
us at full capacity with a near-constant waiting 
list since inception. Most of those identified 
as at-risk of County Lines exploitation are 

Over a 3-year period, 83% of young people 
engaged on the project have received a 
positive outcome*. One of the key indicators 
for measuring a positive outcome within 
R&R is  “Increased feelings of safety and 
reduced feelings of vulnerability (service 
user led)”.  We have not measured this 
outcome independently, so cannot provide 
a percentage that relates solely to this 
outcome. However, based on our overall 
monitoring of positive outcomes, we are 
confident that the majority of young people 
engaging with the project are feeling 
safer and less vulnerable than they were 
beforehand.

Please see Cross-Cutting Theme section on 
Young Women and Girls pages 26 to 31.

5.

6.

8.

7.BETTER UNDERSTANDING OF THE 
PROBLEM AND NETWORKS 

INCREASE IN NUMBER OF YP 
IDENTIFIED AS BEING AT RISK 

INCREASED FEELINGS OF SAFETY AND 
REDUCED FEELINGS OF VULNERABILITY 

INCREASED KNOWLEDGE OF THE RISK FOR YOUNG 
WOMEN ASSOCIATED WITH COUNTY LINES/CRIMINAL 
NETWORKS
  not being addressed or utilising the R&R 

service. Information received from county 
police force’s has also has helped us to see 
consistent patterns in where young people 
are most commonly being trafficked outside 
of London. As a result, we now have a far 
more enhanced understanding of what the 
County Lines exploitation picture looks like 
across London.

signposted to local provision within their 
borough or alternative support services.

In year 4 of the project we will be working 
closely with the Home Office funded County 
Lines Victim Support Service (CLVSS) 
operated by St Giles Trust to signpost any 
R&R referrals who present as at-risk of more 
localised exploitation.

As part of the University of Bedfordshire’s R&R 
Evaluation ‘Young People’s Voice Survey’, a 
cohort of young people receiving support 
from R&R at the time were asked if they felt 
safer overall. Of the 17 who answered this 
question, 11 young people recorded that they 
felt safer, while 2 stated that they did not and  
4 responded that they didn’t know. 

*See page 12 for full definition of R&R ‘Positive 
Outcome’.

P
age 93



42   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

RESCUE AND RESPONSE PROJECT  
OUTCOMES & IMPACT

During the earlier stages of the project, 
‘Breaking The Cycle’ training sessions were 
delivered to frontline professionals across 
the four London quadrants, with two 
sessions per quadrant. This amounted to 
approximately 600 front line workers  
trained initially.

Through the Abianda Gender Consultant, 
we delivered 23 sessions to 1027 front line 
professionals. The training ‘Young Womxn, 
Girls, Gangs & County Lines’ helps support 

ONWARD REFERRALS FROM R&R TO EXTERNAL FAMILY SUPPORT SERVICES

INWARD R&R ENGAGEMENT WITH FAMILIES OF YP ACCEPTED FOR INTERVENTION

9. 11.400 FRONT LINE  
WORKERS TRAINED  

INCREASE IN REFERRALS TO FAMILY  
SUPPORT SERVICES  

frontline workers to address the specific 
needs of young women and girls at risk of 
County Lines exploitation.​

On top of this, the R&R team regularly deliver 
bespoke training sessions or presentations for 
county police forces, educational establishments, 
local government, community sector 
organisations and at national child exploitation 
conferences. This takes our total for front line 
workers trained in excess of 2000 in the 3 years 
to date, far surpassing the initial target of 400.

(Please see Cross-Cutting Theme section 
on NRM pages 35 to 37)

10. INCREASE IN REFERRALS TO NATIONAL  
REFERRAL MECHANISM  

1

1

3

3

2

2

YEAR 1

7

YEAR 1

75

YEAR 2

20 

YEAR 2

105 

YEAR 3

61 

YEAR 3

76 

TOTAL

81 

TOTAL

256 

P
age 94



43   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

RESCUE AND RESPONSE PROJECT  
OUTCOMES & IMPACT

We recognise that CSE (Child Sexual 
Exploitation) affects both males and 
females, but we have found that CSE is very 
prevalent amongst the young women that 
we work with. On average, approximately 
two thirds of all young women referred have 
experienced a level of CSE, whether that 
be current or historical, familial, relational 
or external. Although many of the young 
women referred through R&R are over 18, 
the exploitation has most often taken place 
or at least begun long before this age.

Through Abianda’s structured programme, 
CSE is addressed in the following ways:

•	 Explore issues such as consent, 
relationships, values

•	 Support young women to develop critical 
thinking and feel safe to share knowledge 
of further victims 

•	 Make referrals to and liaise with DV services, 
Police, Social services, Specialist sexual 
abuse services, Counselling/Therapy, Sexual 

12. 13.INCREASE IN NUMBER OF CSE CASES REFERRED TO  
SAFEGUARDING AND INCREASED LINKS BETWEEN  
LONDON AND REGIONAL SERVICES

DECREASE MISSING EPISODES FOR  
ENGAGING COHORT

health services and Mental health services

•	 Challenge what we all too often experience 
as inappropriate language from professionals, 
this is often blaming and discriminatory

•	 Through our training as well as in general 
conversation we raise professionals 
awareness regarding the barriers to young 
women accessing support, indicators of 
exploitation and how to best support 
young women 

•	 We work closely with placements and 
partners to share information and have risk 
response meetings where cases are identified

•	 Where no referral is made or a referral is 
on hold, we provide Case Consultations to 
support professionals to manage risk and 
increase partnership working, tightening 
networks around young women

•	 Abianda training has reach across the UK, 
helping raise professional awareness of the 
risk to Young Women and Girls beyond 
London

To get an initial indication of the impact of the 
R&R intervention on missing episodes, we 
examined a dip sample of 50 young people 
who had engaged with R&R and completed 
the intervention. We looked at the number of 
missing episodes recorded on the Met Police 
system ‘Merlin’ for 1 year prior to allocation and 
1 year after allocation. Of the 50, there were  
16 (32%) who had no missing episodes prior  
to and after engagement. 

74% of the sample showed a decrease in 
missing episodes after engagement with 
R&R. The largest decrease we had in a young 
person’s missing episodes was from 63 prior 
to engagement to only 7 after engagement. 
The median number of missing episodes 
prior to engagement was 3 and the median 
after engagement was 1, demonstrating an 
average 67% reduction in the number of 
individual missing episodes. 

Of those who were reported missing at least 
once before engagement, 48% of the sample 
had zero recorded missing episodes after 
engagement.

UNKNOWN

YES

NO

17%

43%

40%

43% of young people had at least one 
reported missing episode believed linked 
to County Lines prior to referral. This is 
a reduction compared to 50% of year 2 
referrals, indicating that R&R may now be 
receiving referrals at an earlier stage.

Of this 43%, the number of days missing 
was recorded for 78% of these young 
people; the most common being 1 day 
(16 young people), followed by 3 days 
(14). Overall, 1 to 7 days continues to be 
the most common period of time spent 
missing, but ranged up to 3 months.

P
age 95



44   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

RESCUE AND RESPONSE PROJECT  
OUTCOMES & IMPACT

IMPACT ON MISSING EPISODES LARGEST REDUCTION IN 
MISSING EPISODES

MEDIAN NUMBER OF 
MISSING EPISODES 

63 7
MISSING EPISODES 

BEFORE 
R&R

ENGAGEMENT

MISSING EPISODES  

AFTER 
R&R

ENGAGEMENT

 REDUCTION  
IN MISSING  
EPISODES

 PRIOR TO
ENGAGEMENT

 ZERO MISSING
EPISODES AFTER 
ENGAGEMENT

AFTER
ENGAGEMENT

48% 1

74% 3

RESULTS FROM DIP SAMPLE OF 50 YOUNG PEOPLE WHO HAD SUCCESSFULLY ENGAGED 
WITH R&R AND COMPLETED THE INTERVENTION

P
age 96



45   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

UNIVERSITY OF BEDFORDSHIRE   
YEAR 3 EVALUATION 
SNAPSHOT  

In this section we have summarised the 
findings from the third year of the University of 
Bedfordshire evaluation of Rescue and Response. 

The third year of the evaluation remained focused on 
four key questions (see Summary), and the findings are 
reported in relation to each of the questions that have 
remained consistent over the three years conducting the 
research. These were agreed at the start of the evaluation 
in consultation with the R&R Operational and Strategic 
board. The questions reflect the programme objectives 
and the Contextual Safeguarding framework via which the 
programme was evaluated (see appendix 4). 

YOUNG PEOPLE’S VOICE SURVEY
As part of the evaluation, a short digital/online survey was 
created in order for young people currently engaged in 
Rescue and Response to share some of their views about 
the service anonymously. We recognise the limitations of a 
survey method, as well as the small number of respondents 
and acknowledge that the evaluation was not designed with 
a focus on the views of young people. However, University 
of Bedfordshire would recommend further research into 
the experiences of young people affected by County 
Lines and how services support them as a next step in the 
development of Rescue and Response. 

GENERAL DATA
There were 23 respondents to the survey, but only 18 were fully 
completed. The young people did not have to answer every 
question and they could choose to stop and end completion at 
any point. 

Of the 18 surveys completed, 17 of the respondents were male 
and one was female, representing all three of the VCS providers, 
although the spread of responses varied. All the young people 
were aged between 15 and 22. The respondents represent a 
broad selection of London boroughs, with one young person 
coming from a bordering county. 

The majority of respondents identified as Black or Mixed 
Heritage, with only two identifying as White. While this is 
a very small sample, it aligns with data that indicates the 
disproportionate representation of Black (in particular) and 
minoritised males in CCE cohorts (Child Safeguarding Practice 
Review Panel (CSPRP), 2020).

UNDERSTANDING R&R 
The majority of the young people confirmed that they knew what 
Rescue and Response was about and when asked to explain 
what they understood about R&R, six of the young people made 
the link to County Lines or ‘OT’ whereas many viewed the service 
as something that offered them help and support through a 
mentor/youth work and would ‘keep me on the right path’. 

When asked to what extent they agree with the statement: 
Rescue and Response knows what it means to ‘go country’, 
the majority of the young people strongly agreed; none 
disagreed although some stated that they neither agreed 
or disagreed. 

BEST THING ABOUT R&R 
Reflecting on what the best thing was about the support 
they are receiving from R&R, the young people were 
overwhelmingly positive. Some of the feedback included: 

•	 Workers are really supportive and trustworthy 

•	 They understand what I am saying 

•	 I can see they know their stuff 

•	 The flexibility of the workers 

•	 Weekly check-ups and great support 

P
age 97



46   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

UNIVERSITY OF BEDFORDSHIRE 
YOUNG PEOPLE’S VOICE SURVEY CONTINUED

When asked if anything would be changed about 
the service, most young people replied with ‘no’, 
but some respondents added they needed more 
support with work – indicating bigger systemic 
challenges/barriers that may impact young 
people’s involvement in County Lines. 

Further to this, some respondents chose to add 
additional comments at the end of the survey to 
share their positive experiences (see below).  

SUPPORTING YOUNG PEOPLE TO STAY SAFE
Young people were asked what they thought the most 
important thing that professionals could do to keep young 
people safe from County Lines and some of the young 
people’s responses aligned with what they felt was best about 
the support they had received from R&R. These responses 
illustrate the need for a relationship-based approach from 
work and services, as well as the need for resources. 

•	 Stay in contact and give advice.

•	 I don’t know really that’s a hard question but maybe just be 
there and try not to judge as you don’t always know why 
people are going OT.

•	 Encouraging young people do things and put things in 
place for them to succeed.

•	 Communication and being there for them.

•	 Be given support and options that will lead them  
down the right path

•	 Have contact

•	 There need to be more opportunities for  
young people to make money.

•	 Move them from their environment

•	 Move them from the area they was in, change their routine

•	 I think professionals can look to support young people to find 
work experience/ apprenticeships and jobs would help deter 
YP from going country. I also think more activities should be 
made for young people to do something constructive.

 ALTERNATIVE VIEWS
•	 Nothing, if they make that life choice that’s their business

•	 I don’t know nothing really if they want to go then there 
going probably for a reason or being forced. So I don’t know.

THE RESPONDENTS WERE ASKED  
IF THEY FELT SAFER OVERALL 
•	 Of the 17 who answered this question, 11 young people 

recorded that they felt safer, while 2 stated that they did not 
and 4 responded that they didn’t know. 

P
age 98



47   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

UNIVERSITY OF BEDFORDSHIRE 
CASE REVIEW INTERVIEWS

In order to further inform the ways in which the 
R&R model can facilitate increased safety and 
feelings of safety, amongst young people and 
their families, the evaluation team conducted 
six semi structured case review interviews with 
R&R Caseworkers; three interviews were with 
VCS providers and three with LA borough 
caseworkers. 
The interviews focused on one case per worker 
and explored in depth how the R&R project 
had worked to support the particular young 
person. Although small in number, all these cases 
illustrated the extreme levels of vulnerability 
and high risk the young people had previously 
experienced before referral to R&R, and all 
evidenced the necessity of developing a strong 
trusted relationship with the young person in 
order to support them effectively. All of the 
young people had long and complex historical 
involvements with other statutory services (e.g. 
CSC, YOS) prior to referral. In this respect, a 
number of the young people also had clear 
indicators of potential exploitation ignored in  
the earlier LA response to the young person.

A NUMBER OF COMMON ISSUES AND CHALLENGES 
EMERGED AROUND R&R SAFEGUARDING WITHIN 
THE CASE REVIEWS, INCLUDING: 
•	 the challenge of safeguarding a young person over the age  

of 18, even when work had commenced with them under  
that age;

•	 key problems regarding the suitability and stability of 
supported accommodation for a number of the young people;

•	 not fully considering the impact of relocation of a young 
person and the support needs accompanying that process;

•	 the lack of wider appropriate support services for the 18-25 
group (e.g. mental health and therapeutic interventions);

•	 the impact of drug debts on the ability of support workers to 
safeguard the young person; 

•	 the impact of criminalisation on the ability of support workers 
to safeguard the young person;

•	 examples of increased risk being caused to young people due 
to neglect by other professionals or actions against peers (e.g. 
police enforcement);

•	 the impact of PTSD responses, due to previous exploitation 
experiences, on the ability of support workers to safeguard  
the young person;

•	 R&R workers not being local to locations to see the young 
person quickly enough;

•	 inconsistent direct working with a young person from 
a range of professionals meaning they received mixed 
messages about their safeguarding support;

•	 delayed response to R&R workers’ attempts to advocate 
for young person from statutory services, especially 
from LA, CSC and police.

THE CASE REVIEW INTERVIEWS ALSO 
IDENTIFIED COMMON KEY STRENGTHS  
OF THE R&R CASEWORKER MODEL;
•	 the sharing of expertise and training within the VCS 

sector, in order to help caseworkers develop a strong 
trusted relationship with a young person;

•	 close working and communication between caseworkers 
and coordinators within the R&R model to continue 
to advocate and identify risks for young person to the 
wider project network;

•	 sometimes the R&R worker remained the only 
professional still delivering safeguarding with a young 
person, especially when over 18.

P
age 99



48   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

UNIVERSITY OF BEDFORDSHIRE 
SUMMARY

The analysis of the year three data has confirmed 
some of the evidence trends that were emerging 
in year two of the R&R project in line with the 
four evaluation questions being interrogated. 

Q1What are the mechanisms of a ‘team 
around the network’ approach, in what 

ways and how does it work to increase practitioner 
awareness of County Lines and to facilitate a 
safeguarding response for young people? 
The current findings with regard to the R&R bespoke  
offer are that:

•	 The ‘team around the network’ is now much clearer to all 
project partners and reaching the frontline practitioners in 
a more impactful, useful way.

•	 The role of the data analysts has been refined, clarified and 
re-directed towards greater relevance for safeguarding 
practice.

•	 Communication between all partners is now enhanced 
and the key importance of the role of Coordinators in this 
respect has been stressed.

•	 R&R project identity has improved and VCS partners in 
particular recognised the ‘value’ it added for them, especially 
in their negotiations with other statutory agencies.

•	 Existing service issues continue to influence the effectiveness of 
the team approach e.g. access to appropriate housing services; 
mental health and trauma support; legal support for court 
appearances; service availability for those aged 18+. These are 
large scale issues which require strategic thinking to improve 
accessibility and availability of service support.  

Q2 In what ways and how do the ‘breaking 
the cycle’ activities function to increase 

practitioner awareness of County Lines and facilitate 
a safeguarding response for young people?  

The current findings indicate that the previous delivery of 
the ‘Breaking the Cycle’ training had contributed to a better 
understanding of the ‘team around the network’ model.

Q3Where and how does the R&R model 
leverage improved service, particularly 

safeguarding responses, to young people and 
vulnerable adults (under-25), what are the barriers 
and enablers to implementing a safeguarding 
response? 
The current evaluation findings have identified some key levers and 
barriers to service response/safeguarding within the R&R model:

•	 In year three the project has moved towards much greater 
clarity of consent issues regarding information sharing 

between providers and wider project partners.

•	 Trusted relationships between caseworkers and young 
people, as part of the R&R delivery, has proven to be 
key in developing effective safeguarding support.

•	 VCS and LA providers have identified when to bring new 
relevant partners into the safeguarding frame in order 
to best support young people (e.g. bespoke legal or 
trauma related services).

•	 The partnership element (including information sharing) 
of the project has slowly begun to increase, rather 
than decrease, trust. For example, communicating and 
demonstrating that by being part of the wider project 
providers are better networked to advocate on behalf 
of the young people and can flag emerging contextual 
threats to young people that can be disrupted and 
where safety can be created. Therefore, as safety in such 
instances has increased through partnership responses, 
so has trust.

P
age 100



49   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

UNIVERSITY OF BEDFORDSHIRE 
SUMMARY

Q4In what ways does the R&R model 
facilitate increased safety, and feelings 

of safety, amongst young people and their 
families?  
The current evaluation findings suggest that there is some 
evidence of increased safety and feelings of safety by young 
people and their families:

•	 The Coordinator role within R&R is identified as a 
prominent and effective aspect of the bespoke offer, 
although some of the barriers to adolescent safeguarding 
still remain. 

•	 The Youth Voice Survey and data from the individual case 
review interviews identify some examples of increased 
safety and feelings of safety.

•	 The sharing of expertise and training within the VCS sector, 
in order to help caseworkers develop a strong trusted 
relationship with a young person.

•	 Close working and communication between caseworkers 
and coordinators within the R&R model continue to facilitate 
advocate and identify risks for young person to the wider 
project network;

•	 In some cases, the R&R worker remained the only 
professional still doing safeguarding with a young person, 
especially when over 18.

•	 There is currently limited evidence that the R&R model is 
consistently able to promote a contextual safeguarding 
approach.

P
age 101



50   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

OPERATIONAL UPDATES   
PRIORITIES AND DEVELOPMENT 

The Gender Consultancy role through Abianda saw over 
1000 frontline professionals provided with specialist 
training in responding to the needs of young women and 
girls, including the provision of individual case consultancy

Analytical work comparing R&R referral data against NCLCC 
general CL data allowed us to identify county areas where 
engagement could be improved and booster sessions have been 
delivered to help maintain awareness of the service available

In response to year 2 UoB evaluation recommendations, we 
have tightened the gap between R&R Analysts and Service 
Providers, with each now having a dedicated go-to Analyst 

The documentation of emerging CL trends is now 
happening via a monthly virtual call with an open invite 
to all caseworkers on the project, so new patterns of 
behaviour can easily be shared

Rescue recording has transitioned onto a live online 
document that can be accessed by both St Giles Trust 
and the R&R team, which also records alternative support 
outcomes and tracks onward referrals into the project

Highlight the impact of Covid-19 on young people’s mental 
health and seek out options to bolster our wellbeing 
support offer

Continue to build relationships in county force areas,  
using metrics to prioritise areas in need and promoting 
Rescue service

Work closely with Met Exploitation leads to share learning 
and best practice concerning the crossover of CCE and CSE

Include young people in future design and development of 
our strategy to tackle County Lines exploitation

Work with Home Office funded CLVSS operated by St Giles 
Trust to signpost cases of localised exploitation 

Develop ideas around how a County Lines response 
may fit into the wider approach to reduce criminal 
exploitation

Development of referrals for the 18-25 cohort, and for 
young women through the Gender Consultancy role 

Liaison with the top counties identified to increase 
awareness and engagement with the project

Continuing focus on developing association charts and 
network analysis

The collation and sharing of soft intelligence with police 
and LAs - building on the success of R&R’s regular 
collation and sharing of COVID-19 trends during 
lockdown

Supporting the contextual safeguarding model through 
the project’s liaison with boroughs and wider agencies

YEAR 3 20/21 DEVELOPMENT YEAR 4 21/22 FOCUSYEAR 3 20/21 PRIORITIES

The priorities that were set for year 3 have been developed and continue to remain ongoing for 
the project. In addition, year 4 will see particular focus on a number of key areas. 

P
age 102



51   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

APPENDIX 1   
WHAT IS A 
COUNTY LINE? “County Lines is a term used to describe gangs and organised criminal networks 

involved in exporting illegal drugs into one or more importing areas [within the UK], 
using dedicated mobile phone lines or other form of “deal line”. They are likely to exploit 
children and vulnerable adults to move [and store] the drugs and money and they will 
often use coercion, intimidation, violence (including sexual violence) and weapons.
NPCC definition (2018 Home Office Serious Crime Strategy)

As well as exploiting London individuals, 
networks are believed to be using people 
from the county in order to exploit local 
knowledge and associations. They are also 
reportedly using people from London that 
specifically fit the demographics of the 
county town.

Young people refer to County Lines activity 
as ‘going country’, ‘cunch’, ‘going OT’, ‘out 
there’ and ‘O’.

The loss of drugs and/or cash usually  
leads to young people falling victim to  
debt bondage which is often enforced by 
the gang through forced labour on the 
County Line.

Due to the risk of violence, young people 
will carry weapons for their protection.

Young people go missing for differing 
periods of time, some spanning weeks  
and some only a day, with ‘daytrippers’ 
and ‘commuting’ referring to a young 
person travelling to and back from a 
county in one day, and ‘holiday’ referring 
to a weekend trip.

IDENTIFY COUNTY 
TOWN WITH A 
MARKET NEED  
FOR DRUGS

GROOMING AND 
RECRUITMENT 
ONTO THE 
COUNTY LINE

SET UP OF DRUG 
LINE, AND SUPPLY 
OF DRUGS TO THE 
COUNTY TOWN 
MAINLY CLASS A

ONGOING EXPLOITATION 
OF YOUNG PEOPLE AND 
VULNERABLE ADULTS ON 
THE COUNTY LINE

ARREST OF INDIVIDUALS 
INVOLVED IN COUNTY 
LINES ACTIVITY, ON THE 
STREET, IN VEHICLES 
AND IN CUCKOOED 
ADDRESSES

IDENTIFY 
VULNERABLE 
PEOPLE FOR 
EXPLOITATION 
FROM LONDON 
AND THE COUNTY

IDENTIFY 
ADDRESSES IN 
THE COUNTY 
TO USE OR 
‘CUCKOO’

TRANSPORT OF 
DRUGS, CASH 
AND PEOPLE 
BETWEEN 
LONDON AND 
THE COUNTY

Cuckooing’ refers to the takeover of a 
vulnerable person’s address, usually a 
drug user, for the purpose of drug supply. 
These addresses are also referred to as 
‘traphouses’ or bandos’, and young people 
suffer trauma whilst kept in them.

Venues such as hotels, B&Bs & Air BnBs are  
being used.

Access to social media, and association with 
someone linked to County Lines activity, are 
two key factors facilitating grooming and 
recruitment onto County Lines.

VIOLENCE AND ROBBERY 
IN COUNTY TOWN 
RESULTING FROM 
TENSIONS WITH RIVAL 
NETWORKS

P
age 103



52   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

APPENDIX 2   
RESCUE AND RESPONSE 
ORGANISATIONAL CHART 

R&R OPERATIONS MANAGER
Line manage 4 x PC’s and 4 x Analysts

Co-commissioning Manager for SGT, SL, Abianda, EC and UoB

R&R STRATEGIC BOARD
Headed by coalition of Local  

Authorities, with support from  
Specialist MPS Commands and  

the NCLCC

LOCAL AUTHORITY
Local Authority Community safety units 
(CSUs), Children Services (CIN, LAC & 
Leaving care  teams), Youth Offending 
Services (YOS), Multi-agency panels 
including MASE and vulnerable adolescent, 
head teachers and PRUs

LAW ENFORCEMENT  
AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE
Metropolitan Police Service (Intelligence Units, 
Sexual Exploitation Teams, Gang Units, Missing 
Teams, Trident Partnership), British Transport 
Police, ROCUs, NCA National County Lines 
Coordination Centre, Probation and CRC teams

OTHER  
ORGANISATIONS
The Children’s Society, Centre Point, 
Redthread, National Youth Advocacy 
Service, The Somali Foundation, NSPCC, 
Footsteps, YJB NHS, Just For Kids Law

EMPOWERING COMMUNITIES 
Referral Dashboard (EC Connect)  
and Case Management System  

(ECINS) Partner

UNIVERSITY OF  
BEDFORDSHIRE

Project Evaluation Partner

CaseworkersOne Partnership Coordinator and one Analyst work 
in pairs to cover a Quadrant of London 

(North, East, South, West)

Caseworkers

Family Support
Worker

Housing Advocacy
Worker

PARTNERSHIP
COORDINATORS X4

ANALYSTS
X4

RESCUE & RESPONSE 
WORKS COLLABORATIVELY 
WITH VARIOUS EXTERNAL 
PARTNERS, AND HAS RAISED 
AWARENESS OF THE PROJECT 
IN ORGANISATIONS ACROSS 
LONDON AND BEYOND

Rescue
Workers

Gender
Consultant

Caseworkers

Senior
Caseworker

SAFER LONDON
Service Manager

ABIANDA
Service Manager

ST GILES TRUST
Service Manager

ST GILES TRUST
Rescue Team Leader

P
age 104



53   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

APPENDIX 3   
RESCUE AND RESPONSE 
REFERRAL PROCESS

PARTNERSHIP 
COORDINATOR
First point of contact for the project. 
Available to discuss any queries around 
referrals and training

Coordinators identify SPOCs across the 
partnership and develop knowledge and 
relationships. Work collaboratively through 
attendance at multi-agency meetings

Coordinate a streamlined multi-agency 
safeguarding response for young people 
involved or at risk of County Lines 
exploitation

Present training and awareness to a  
wide range of professionals in relation to 
County Lines exploitation and the project’s 
service offer

REFERRALS
INTERVENTION REFERRAL: provision of one to one support to young people
INTELLIGENCE REFERRAL: to inform the project of young people involved in County Lines

ANALYST
Development of strategic themes, including 
for the R&R strategic assessment

Submitting returns to the NCA National 
County Lines Coordination Centre of 
individuals linked to County Lines 

Quarterly Performance Report

Collation of trends and cases of note  
that are shared with partners

Regular flagging of identified exploitation 
victims to borough SPOCS, and provision  
of County Lines products

Association link charts for County Lines 
networks 

Ad hoc intelligence checks for allocated 
cases

Out of hours phone line run by SGT:
•	Signposting & advice for professionals

•	Requests for Rescues (also by email  
to the R&R duty desk) 

RESCUE SERVICE
The outreach team travel to counties and bring 
young people safely back to London. Some young 
people ‘rescued’ go on to be allocated to an 
outreach team member for further intervention work.

SAFER LONDON  
HOUSING ADVOCACY 
Safer London have specialist Housing 
Advocacy Officers who work alongside young 
people, raising awareness of their housing 
options and assisting their applications for 
both social and private accommodation.

ABIANDA GENDER 
CONSULTANT 
Case Consultations 
for professionals 
about County Lines 
cases for young 
women

Training sessions:  
“Young Womxn, 
Girls, Gangs & 
County Lines”

Coordinators inform SPOCS of all Referrals and 
liaise with the network around the young person to 
identify the most suitable intervention available

DECLINED REFERRALS
•	If its possible to signpost the young person to 

a similar intervention provision on borough
•	If the young person does not evidence links to 

County Lines activity or present as at risk of it

ACCEPTED REFERRALS
•	Allocated to St Giles Trust, Abianda  

or Safer London
•	Engagement work with caseworker
•	Case notes are recorded on ECINS

Analysts conduct research to 
identify County Lines activity 
or associations

ST GILES TRUST  
RESCUE TEAM

P
age 105



54   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

APPENDIX 4   
THE CONTEXTUAL SAFEGUARDING 
FRAMEWORK  

Contextual Safeguarding is an approach to safeguarding 
adolescents from harm outside of the family home and 
that targets the social conditions of abuse; that is the 
spaces where young people come to harm and the social 
rules at play in these spaces (Firmin, 2017). While Police 
and Community Safety Partnerships are mandated to 
protect young people in public places, these agencies are 
principally tasked with crime prevention and reduction – 
as opposed to safeguarding and abuse prevention. 

Whilst amendments to Working Together 2018 (HM 
Government, 2018) acknowledge extra-familial forms 
of harm, current policy and practice responses are 
struggling to articulate and operationalise a safeguarding 
response to extra-familial forms of harm, including 
those young people affected by ‘County Lines’ (ALDCS, 
2018). Contextual safeguarding proposes a child welfare 
response to young people who are subject to harm 
outside of the home. 

Specifically, a Contextual Safeguarding approach  
is scaffolded by four domains: it targets the social  
conditions of abuse, includes extra familial contexts 
in child protection legislative frameworks, utilises 
partnerships with individuals and organisations 
responsible for the spaces where young people  
spend their time and measures contextual outcomes 
(Firmin, 2017) as shown in figure 1. 

Seeks to prevent, identify, assess and intervene 
with the social conditions of abuse (rather than 
being solely focused on individual behaviours 
abstracted from context): 
There is an emerging consensus that in order to safeguard 
adolescents from extra-familial abuse, safeguarding 
interventions must be targeted at, and distributed across, 
the social fields in which young people operate (as reflected 
in the inclusion of the ‘contextual safeguarding’ in Working 
Together 2018). The involvement of young people in ‘County 
Lines’ activity takes place in a complex social environment, 

1. TARGET  

FIGURE 1: CONTEXTUAL SAFEGUARDING FRAMEWORK 
(FIRMIN AND LLOYD, 2020)

outside of the family home (the traditional site of safeguarding 
interventions), where young people are exposed to risk in the 
form of exploitative adults, peers, unsafe spaces and the socio-
economic relationships (that are gendered and racialised) that 
structure the contexts within which young people operate. As 
such, interventions that seek to safeguard young people from 
this form of abuse must have an awareness of, and engage with 
and intervene in, all of the dynamics that intersect to create harm 
in the young person’s environment. The evaluation team sought 
to understand how R&R partnership works across the various 
contexts and social relationships that structure young people’s 
experience of abuse. 

A Contextual Safeguarding framework has been applied to 
the organising and analysis of the evaluation data. 

DOMAIN 1. TARGET

Seeks to prevent, identify, 
assess and intervene with the 
social conditions of abuse

DOMAIN 2. LEGISLATIVE
FRAMEWORK

Incorporate extra-familial 
contexts into child protection 
frameworks

DOMAIN 3. PARTNERSHIPS

Develop partnerships with 
sectors/individuals whos are 
responsible for the nature of 
extra-familial contexts

DOMAIN 4. OUTCOMES
MEASUREMENT

Monitor outcomes of success 
in relation to contextual, as 
well as individual, change

P
age 106



55   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

APPENDIX 4 
THE CONTEXTUAL SAFEGUARDING  
FRAMEWORK
 

Incorporates extra-familial contexts into traditional 
child protection and safeguarding frameworks (as 
contextual work has historically been located within 
community safety and crime prevention): 
Extra-familial contexts are assessed and intervened in in line with child 
welfare legislation and practice frameworks. This legislation promotes 
the best interests of children and dictates that the welfare of children 
and young people should remain paramount (Legislation.gov.uk, 
1989; HM Government, 2018) over other commercial, enforcement 
or political objectives. Assessment and intervention in these spaces 
must, therefore, promote the centrality of young people’s voices, and 
their participation in decision making, and must promote children 
and young people’s right to live lives free from violence, abuse and 
neglect (article 16, CRC) whilst maintaining their right to privacy 
(article 19, CRC4). These articles alongside Article 8 of the European 
Convention of Human Rights and GDPR requirements are crucial 
considerations in any local strategy to safeguard young people. Given 
the extended reach of child protection systems under a public health 
or Contextual Safeguarding approach, serious consideration must 
be given to protection of privacy and civil liberties (Parton, 2019) to 
ensure that broad populations of young people are not profiled and 
targeted without consideration for thresholds of harm, consent, GDPR 
and confidentiality. 

2. LEGISLATIVE, POLICY AND 
PRACTICE FRAMEWORKS  

Develops partnerships with sectors, 
services and individuals who are 
responsible for the nature of extra-familial 
contexts (rather than only working with 
services intended to support individuals 
and families):  
A key objective of the R&R project is to coordinate 
a system for identifying, and implementing a 
safeguarding response to young people who are 
exploited via ‘County Lines’. The R&R partnership 
has included analysts, project co-ordinators, three 
VCS partners and all 32 London boroughs. The UoB 
evaluation team explored the extent to which this 
partnership approach can leverage a safeguarding 
response to young people and the mechanism that 
facilitate this approach whilst identifying remaining 
barriers to working across partnerships.  Iterative 
learning was fed into the R&R project via contextual 
reviews, briefings and the strategic and operational 
board meetings to inform and enhance the 
partnership work. 

3. PARTNERSHIPS  

Uses contextual, as well as individual, 
outcome measures to monitor impact:  
Finally, the evaluation explored the extent to which 
the R&R model achieved ‘contextual’ outcomes 
that supported the overall objectives of the project. 
The Contextual Safeguarding framework was used 
to evaluate the efficacy of the ‘team around the 
network’ approach, and the leverage this approach 
has to implement safeguarding strategies in unsafe 
contexts/peer groups. The evaluation explored the 
increased understanding of the contexts and social 
relations that increase young people and families’ 
experience of safety, and the increased capacity of 
R&R and partners to promote interventions that 
facilitate safer contexts and relationships.

4. OUTCOME MEASURES  

P
age 107



56   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

APPENDIX 5   
UNIVERSITY OF BEDFORDSHIRE: 
ETHICS AND METHODS  
ETHICS METHODS 

Ethical approval for the evaluation was granted by 
the Research Institute Ethics Panel at the Institute of 
Applied Social Research at the University of Bedfordshire. 
Additional research ethics and data protection processes 
were also followed at the three local authority/areas case 
study sites. In year 1 data were largely collected in person 
by the evaluator. However, research activities were moved 
online with the advent of Covid-19. 

All participants read and signed an evaluation ‘Information 
and Consent’ form outlining the purpose of the evaluation, 
consent, confidentiality and anonymity and the right to 
withdraw specific comments and statements. 

This was a formative and summative evaluation which 
traced the progress and development of the Rescue 
and Response project over a three-year period. It used 
qualitative, embedded methods of data collection. 
Quantitative data from the R&R annual Strategic 
Assessments were drawn on to corroborate emerging 
findings from the qualitative data collection and analysis. 
Data was collected from across the R&R project team 
(the analysts and coordinators); the three VCS partners: 
Abianda, St Giles Trust, Safer London; and three London 
Borough case study sites. The three London Boroughs 
were included in the evaluation to understand the extent to 
which R&R supported and informed Borough safeguarding 
practice. The three London Boroughs were selected by the 
evaluation team in partnership with the R&R Operational 
and Strategic board and were chosen to ensure that a 
range of geographical areas and challenges were included. 

P
age 108



57   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS   
  
PROJECT FUNDER PROJECT SERVICE PROVIDERS DATA SYSTEM PROVIDER

EVALUATION PARTNER

© Greater London Authority 2021

P
age 109



58   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

FURTHER READING

REFERENCES
Firmin, C and Lloyd, J. (2020) Contextual Safeguarding. A 2020 
update on the operational, strategic and conceptual framework. 
University of Bedfordshire: Luton

Imkaan and University of Warwick (2015) Between the Lines: 
Service Responses to Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) Women and 
Girls Experiencing Sexual Violence. 
Available from: https://drive.google.com/file/d/0B_
MKSoEcCvQwM2tBZDJxV1R4LUk/view?resourcekey=0-
bRa3tiZDliI3ivjoVwOSAg [Accessed 17 September 2021]

Lammy, D (2017) Lammy review: final report. An independent review 
into the treatment of, and outcomes for Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic individuals in the criminal justice system. 

Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/lammy-
review-final-report [Accessed 17 September 2021]

Mayor of London (2021) Action Plan: Tackling Ethnic 
Disproportionality in Youth Justice. 
Available from: https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/tackling_
ethnic_disproportionality_in_youth_justice_-_action_plan.pdf [Accessed 
17 September 2021]

The Children’s Society (2018) Supporting black and minority ethnic 
children and young people experiencing child sexual exploitation 
guidance for professionals. 
Available from: https://www.iicsa.org.uk/key-documents/21458/view/
NAP000038.pdf [Accessed 17 September 2021]

AGENCY/REPORT
Rescue and Response
Year 1 Strategic Assessment

Rescue and Response 
Year 2 Strategic Assessment

Rescue and Response
Referral Form

St Giles Trust

Abianda

Safer London

National Youth Agency
Between the Lines Report 2021

University of Nottingham Rights Lab
Covid-19, Vulnerability and the Safeguarding of Criminally 
Exploited Children 2021

HM Inspectorate of Probation
County Lines, Academic Insight 2021

Public Health England
County Lines Exploitation Guide 2021

Children’s Society – County Lines specific 
information for professionals

Contextual Safeguarding Research Programme

P
age 110

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/rescue_and_response_county_lines_project_strategic_assessment_2019.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/rescue_recovery_year_2_sa_-_sept_2020.pdf
https://randr-london.ecconnect.org/form/Rescue%20and%20Response%20Referral%20Form 
https://www.stgilestrust.org.uk/
http://abianda.com/ 
https://saferlondon.org.uk/ 
https://nya.org.uk/static/f3fcc0c77f1f2d3b579af6274648540b/Between-the-lines-final-version.pdf
https://www.nottingham.ac.uk/news/rise-violence-and-sexual-exploitation-children-young-people-county-lines
https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/what-we-do/our-work/tackling-criminal-exploitation-and-county-lines/county-lines-resources
https://contextualsafeguarding.org.uk
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2021/01/Academic-Insights-county-lines-.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/county-lines-exploitation-applying-all-our-health/county-lines-exploitation-applying-all-our-health
https://drive.google.com/file/d/0B_MKSoEcCvQwM2tBZDJxV1R4LUk/view?resourcekey=0-bRa3tiZDliI3ivjoVwOSAg
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/lammy-review-final-report
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/tackling_ethnic_disproportionality_in_youth_justice_-_action_plan.pdf
https://www.iicsa.org.uk/key-documents/21458/view/NAP000038.pdf


59   RESCUE AND RESPONSE COUNTY LINES PROJECT   |  YEAR 3 STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2021

P
age 111



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 113



P
age 114



P
age 115



These are Represented 
according to the borough that 
held statutory responsibility for 
them at the time of referral.

A total of 598 referrals were 
received by the Rescue and 
Response Project from May 2020 
to April 2021. 

P
age 116



During year 3 a total of 1,784 
individuals have been identified as 
having a link to County Lines.

These are represented 
according to the borough that 
they were residing in.

P
age 117



P
age 118



22% 69%

P
age 119



P
age 120



DEMOGRAPHICS FOR REFERRALS & 
INDIVIDUALS LINKED TO COUNTY LINES 

Ethnicity breakdown for all referrals

Ethnicity breakdown for female referrals

P
age 121



41% of young people referred were in 
education at the time of referral
and this has remained the same as year 2 
(41%). 

Gender comparisons show that of the 213 
males attending education, referred, 29% 
attended college and 35% attended 
mainstream school. 

Of the 35 females attending education, most 
were attending a PRU, which accounts for a 
much larger proportion compared with the 
male cohort.

P
age 122



THE IMPACT OF THE LOCKDOWN
ENVIRONMENT ON R&R

Factor 1: Adapting to a new way of working with the
young people. All activities for young people were coordinated 
while working remotely. Challenging to engage a young person 
virtually.

Factor 2: Local lockdowns impacted the way rescues were 
conducted and safety measures had to be considered to make the 
vehicles suitable for continued use. 

REFERRALS OVER THE COVID-19 PERIOD

P
age 123



P
age 124



P
age 125



This map shows the distribution of all 
referrals to Rescue and Response 
across 3 years by ward, based on the 
residential address of the young 
person.

This map shows how R&R referrals are 
very often condensed into small 
pockets within London boroughs, 
demonstrating that the issue of 
County Lines exploitation is rarely a 
borough-wide issue. 

Analysis of this kind can help promote 
a more contextual response to 
safeguarding, by targeting limited 
resources into the areas with the 
greatest need. 

P
age 126



RESCUE AND RESPONSE PROJECT:
3 YEAR OVERVIEW –BOROUGH FOCUS

Key for referrals

0
1
2
3 to 4
5 to 7
8 to 11

Map showing the 
distribution of all R&R 
referrals for Barking 

and Dagenham by ward

Barking and Dagenham County Lines Locations
One year breakdown

Key for County 
Line Locations

1
2
3 
4 to 5
6

P
age 127



Any Questions?

Operations Manager William Willson 
Partnership Coordinators Juliana Trompowsky (North West), Theresa Swann (South), Edil Abdi (East & Central West)
Analysts Farah Dadabhoy (North) & Ravinder Kalsi (South)
Contact the team on 0208 937 5765 or Enquiries@rescue-response.com

P
age 128

mailto:Enquiries@rescue-response.com


Subject: National Referral Mechanism (NRM) Update              

Date: Wednesday 29th June 2022

Author: Angie Fuller 

Contact: Angie.Fuller@lbbd.gov.uk

Security: Unprotected  

1. Brief Update

2. Recommendation(s)

It is recommended that the Community Safety Partnership Board:

3.Main Update

Report not received. 

4. Appendices:

Appendix 1: National Referral Mechanism (NRM) Update presentation 

COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP

REPORT

Page 129

AGENDA ITEM 7



This page is intentionally left blank



/

NRM Pilot Site update

June 2022

P
age 131



The pilot process

Barking & Dagenham are one of 10 pilot sites across the UK, as part of a Home Office funded project to see if NRM decision 
making is quicker when made within the Local Authority (each pilot site has it’s own approach to information gathering for 
pilot panels).
*SCA = Single Competent Authority

P
age 132



3%

3%

Pre-pilot experiences and challenges

Delays with court hearings 

Pre-pilot  children 
experiencing frequent 
adjournment of Court hearings 
while the NRM outcome was 
awaited – sometimes resulting 
in unnecessarily lengthy 
remands

LA not always able to respond 
to Court request for NRM 
outcome decisions due to lack 
of single oversight.

Difficulty with evidence 
gathering   process

The Home Office would initiate 
contact with the First Responder 
by email for further information.
First responder could be from a 
range of professionals. Evidence 
gathering was delayed by change 
of staff and failure to respond to 
HO emails resulting in decisions 
not being able to be progressed.
LA not aware of NRM referrals 
from first responders in different 
agencies – No single oversight in 
LA of NRM process

Delays in decision making 

Pre- pilot children could wait 
for more than a year for the 
Conclusive grounds decision 
to be made.

On other occasions decisions 
may have been made but the 
child and LA were not aware 
of this due to the lack of 
single oversight. 

P
age 133



3%

3%

Improvements in processes and timescales

Fewer delays with court 
hearings 

With pre- pilot referrals 
awaiting Conclusive Grounds  
decisions for several months, 
court hearings become 
delayed.

The pilot provides flexibility 
for LBBD to put on additional 
panels at the request of the 
court, to meet the timescales 
for a hearing.

Improved evidence gathering   
process

Over 70% of the pilot NRM 
referrals have been made by 
social workers. This has 
enabled us to efficiently 
gather supporting evidence 
for panels. 

Panel is multi-agency and 
supports evidence gathering 
from across partnerships even 
where the LA are not the first 
responder

Improved decision making 
timescales

Decision making timescales 
are under a month compared 
to several months outside the 
pilot. 

More than 80% of Conclusive 
Grounds decisions are made 
at the first panel meeting 
(within 1 month of receiving 
an NRM referral). 

P
age 134



3%

3%

Single Oversight 

Local Authority Now able to have single oversight of all children with 
positive NRM decisions regardless of first responder

NRM Coordinator in post funded by the Home Office grant for the pilot 
who is able to track and monitor all NRM referrals, evidence gathering, 

panel decision making and outcomes

P
age 135



Improvements made to 
partnership working- and 

all children receive a social 
care response as a result 

exploitation strategic 
group oversight

Strengthening of existing 
safeguarding response

Letter sent to lead professional 
following a Conclusive Grounds to 
ensure a relevant strategy meeting has 
taken place and an 87a form is 
completed.

LBBD children with positive CG 
decisions are scrutinised at a panel of 
senior leaders and managers.

Independent Child Trafficking 
Guardians (ICTG) are present at every 
panel meeting and provide valuable 
insight.

Involvement of lead 
professionals in the 
NRM process. 

Notification of NRM 
referrals being made 
by other agencies, 
particularly those 
made by police. 

Internal staff training has 
raised awareness of the NRM 
and referral quality, with 
access to user- friendly 
resources. 

P
age 136



3%

3%

Ethnicity of children with NRM referrals within the pilot
(42 referrals received in total as of 30/04/22)

• White British and Black African are the two groups that have had the most referrals submitted to the NRM.
• 3 UASC referrals received in total  (2 Albania,1 Sudan).

Black African 
35%

White 
British 24%

P
age 137



3%

3%

Summary of findings since July 2021 – April 22

42 NRM referrals with Child Exploitation concerns have been discussed at multi agency panels to date. 

31 of these referrals (74%) received positive Conclusive Grounds decisions.

84% of Positive Conclusive 
grounds decisions made at 
first Panel.

For 34% of the children, 
an NRM referral was 
made following their first 
offence.

28% had a sibling who was 
known to be involved with 
criminality. 

79% of referrals are for 
Criminal exploitation, 
with 17% of these 
children present on the 
Gangs Matrix

55% of children had 
made a disclosure about 
their exploitation.

7% of the children had 
known learning 
difficulties. 

P
age 138



Document is Restricted

Page 139

AGENDA ITEM 8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 143

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 149

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 155

AGENDA ITEM 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 157

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 209

AGENDA ITEM 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 211

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Date of Meeting Report Title Presenter Time Item No Item Status

Minutes and Actions from previous meeting Chair 5 mins Item 1 Information item shared virtually
Street Space - Station Activation Findings Tegan Mills and Sophie Hardcastle 15 mins Item 2 Information item shared virtually
Early Help Review Heather Storey & Justine Henderson 15 mins Item 3 Information item shared virtually
Community Payback Chris Lyons 10 mins Item 4 Information item shared virtually
RESTRICTED: LCPF and VRU Funding Chris Lyons 10 mins Item 5 Information item shared virtually
Forward Plan Chair 5 mins Item 6 Information item shared virtually
AOB
- Performance Report
Subgroup Updates
- Contextual Safeguarding & Exploitation and YOS Board
- Hate Crime, Intolerance and Extremism
- IVOLT
- Managing Offenders
- Violence against Women and Girls
- Safer Neighbourhood Board Update
- Safeguarding Boards (LSCB/SAB Updates)

Chair
Subgroup Leads

5 mins Item 7 Information item shared virtually

Introductions and Apologies Chair 2 mins Item 1
Declaration of Interest Chair 2 mins Item 2
Minutes and Actions from previous meeting Chair 5 mins Item 3
Policing and Crime Plan 2021-2025 James Bottomley to cover for Kit Weller 

(MOPAC)
15 mins Item 4 Verbal

Street Space - Station Activation Findings Tegan Mills, Sophie Hardcastle and Phillipa 
Banister 

15 mins Item 5 Item received 

Rescue and Response Assessment Edil Abdi 10 mins Item  6 MAIN AGENDA ITEM- Item received 
National Referral Mechanism (NRM) Update Angie Fuller 10 mins Item 7
Comfort break 
Domestic Violence Update Angela D'Urso 30 mins Item 8 Item received 
Crime and Disorder Strategic Assessment Timeline and Plan Daniel James 10 mins Item 9 Item received 
Youth Safety Summit Findings Erik Stein 10 mins Item 9 Item received 
Partnership delivery to VRU Serious Violence Plan - 6 monthly 
updates and below updates: 
 - VRU Capacity Building Fund (Andy)
- Safe Haven Update (Andy)

All Partners 10 mins Item 11 Verbal

Forward Plan Chair 5 mins Item 12

Wednesday 29 June 
2022

Community Safety Partnership Board Forward Plan

Wednesday 30 March 
2022

(Board Cancelled)

P
age 237

A
G

E
N

D
A

 IT
E

M
 12



AOB
- Performance Report- awaiting MOPAC doc from ifthahar 
Subgroup Updates
- Contextual Safeguarding & Exploitation and YOS Board
- Hate Crime, Intolerance and Extremism
IVOLT                                                                                                    - 
Managing Offenders 
- Safer Neighbourhood Board Update  
- Safeguarding Boards (LSCB/SAB Updates)                                    

Chair
Subgroup Leads

5 mins Item 13
April Bald/Angie Fuller
Andy Opie/ 
Mel Gilmour (maternity leave)/ David Lingard 
Steve Calder
Steve Thompson
Joanne Kitching/Jemma Breslin (cc Justine 
Henderson)                                                                                                                                                                                                               

   

P
age 238



Introductions and Apologies Chair 2 mins Item 1
Declaration of Interest Chair 2 mins Item 2
Minutes and Actions from previous meeting Chair 5 mins Item 3
CCTV Review David Lingard 10 mins Item 4
MPS Drugs Stratergy Paul Waller 15 mins Item 5
Crime and Disorder Strategic Assessment Daniel James 60 mins Item 6 MAIN AGENDA ITEM
Comfort Break
Schools’ response to ''Everyone invited website '' re sexual harm in 
schools settings 

April Bald 10 mins Item 7

Victim Support Update Tarina Evans 15 mins Item 8
Partnership delivery to VRU Serious Violence Plan All Partners 15 mins Item 9
Drugs Market Profile  Amolak Tatter 
Update on VAWG and DA Angela D'urslo 15 mins Item 10
Plan for Community Safety Partnership Plan refresh Chris Lyons 15 mins Item 11
RESTRICTED: Prevent Update Simon Cornwall 10 mins Item 12
Forward Plan Chair 5 mins Item 13
AOB
- Performance Report
Subgroup Updates
- Contextual Safeguarding & Exploitation and YOS Board
- Hate Crime, Intolerance and Extremism
- IVOLT
- Managing Offenders
- Violence against Women and Girls
- Safer Neighbourhood Board Update
- Safeguarding Boards (LSCB/SAB Updates)

Chair
Subgroup Leads

5 mins Item 14
April Bald/Angie Fuller
Andy Opie/ Jade Hodgson
Mel Baker/ Jonathan Woodhams
Antony Rose
Melody Williams/ Hazel North-Stephens
Steve Thompson
Joanne Kitching/Jemma Breslin (cc Justine 
Henderson)

Introductions and Apologies Chair 2 mins Item 1
Declaration of Interest Chair 2 mins Item 2
Minutes and Actions from previous meeting Chair 5 mins Item 3
Safe Haven/ Women Safety Update Chris Lyons/ Community Safety Co-

ordinator
15 mins Item 6

VRU Violence Reduction Unit Action Plan end of year updates and 
new plan sign off

Chris Lyons 15 mins Item 7

Community Safety Partnership Plan refresh Chris Lyons 30 mins Item 8 MAIN AGENDA ITEM
RESTRICTED: Prevent Update Simon Cornwall 10 mins Item 9
Forward Plan Chair 5 mins Item 10
AOB
- Performance Report
Subgroup Updates
- Contextual Safeguarding & Exploitation and YOS Board
- Hate Crime, Intolerance and Extremism
- IVOLT
- Managing Offenders
- Violence against Women and Girls
- Safer Neighbourhood Board Update
- Safeguarding Boards (LSCB/SAB Updates)

Chair
Subgroup Leads

5 mins Item 11
April Bald/Angie Fuller
Andy Opie/ Jade Hodgson
Mel Baker/ Jonathan Woodhams
Antony Rose
Melody Williams/ Hazel North-Stephens
Steve Thompson
Joanne Kitching/Jemma Breslin (cc Justine 
Henderson)

Introductions and Apologies Chair 2 mins Item 1
Declaration of Interest Chair 2 mins Item 2

Wednesday 07  
December 2022

    

Wednesday 28 
September 2022

P
age 239



Minutes and Actions from previous meeting Chair 5 mins Item 3
Partnership delivery to VRU Serious Violence Plan All Partners 15 mins Item 4
RESTRICTED: Prevent Update Simon Cornwall 10 mins Item 5
Forward Plan Chair 5 mins Item 6
AOB
- Performance Report
Subgroup Updates
- Contextual Safeguarding & Exploitation and YOS Board
- Hate Crime, Intolerance and Extremism
- IVOLT
- Managing Offenders
- Violence against Women and Girls
- Safer Neighbourhood Board Update
- Safeguarding Boards (LSCB/SAB Updates)

Chair
Subgroup Leads

5 mins Item 7
April Bald/Angie Fuller
Andy Opie/ Jade Hodgson
Mel Baker/ Jonathan Woodhams
Antony Rose
Melody Williams/ Hazel North-Stephens
Steve Thompson
Joanne Kitching/Jemma Breslin (cc Justine 
Henderson)

Introductions and Apologies Chair 2 mins Item 1
Declaration of Interest Chair 2 mins Item 2
Minutes and Actions from previous meeting Chair 5 mins Item 3
Partnership delivery to VRU Serious Violence Plan All Partners 15 mins Item 4
RESTRICTED: Prevent Update Simon Cornwall 10 mins Item 5
Forward Plan Chair 5 mins Item 6
AOB
- Performance Report
Subgroup Updates
- Contextual Safeguarding & Exploitation and YOS Board
- Hate Crime, Intolerance and Extremism
- IVOLT
- Managing Offenders
- Violence against Women and Girls
- Safer Neighbourhood Board Update
- Safeguarding Boards (LSCB/SAB Updates)

Chair
Subgroup Leads

5 mins Item 7
April Bald/Angie Fuller
Andy Opie/ Jade Hodgson
Mel Baker/ Jonathan Woodhams
Antony Rose
Melody Williams/ Hazel North-Stephens
Steve Thompson
Joanne Kitching/Jemma Breslin (cc Justine 
Henderson)

Introductions and Apologies Chair 2 mins Item 1
Declaration of Interest Chair 2 mins Item 2
Minutes and Actions from previous meeting Chair 5 mins Item 3
Community Safety Partnership Plan annual review Chris Lyons 15 mins Item 4
Crime and Disorder Strategic Assessment Daniel James 60 mins Item 5
Partnership delivery to VRU Serious Violence Plan All Partners 15 mins Item 6
RESTRICTED: Prevent Update Simon Cornwall 10 mins Item 7
Forward Plan Chair 5 mins Item 8
AOB
- Performance Report
Subgroup Updates
- Contextual Safeguarding & Exploitation and YOS Board
- Hate Crime, Intolerance and Extremism
- IVOLT
- Managing Offenders
- Violence against Women and Girls
- Safer Neighbourhood Board Update
- Safeguarding Boards (LSCB/SAB Updates)

Chair
Subgroup Leads

5 mins Item 9
April Bald/Angie Fuller
Andy Opie/ Jade Hodgson
Mel Baker/ Jonathan Woodhams
Antony Rose
Melody Williams/ Hazel North-Stephens
Steve Thompson
Joanne Kitching/Jemma Breslin (cc Justine 
Henderson)

Wednesday 28 June 
2023

Wednesday 27  
September 2023

Wednesday 29  March 
2023

P
age 240



Introductions and Apologies Chair 2 mins Item 1
Declaration of Interest Chair 2 mins Item 2
Minutes and Actions from previous meeting Chair 5 mins Item 3
Partnership delivery to VRU Serious Violence Plan All Partners 15 mins Item 4
RESTRICTED: Prevent Update Simon Cornwall 10 mins Item 5
Forward Plan Chair 5 mins Item 6
AOB
- Performance Report
Subgroup Updates
- Contextual Safeguarding & Exploitation and YOS Board
- Hate Crime, Intolerance and Extremism
- IVOLT
- Managing Offenders
- Violence against Women and Girls
- Safer Neighbourhood Board Update
- Safeguarding Boards (LSCB/SAB Updates)

Chair
Subgroup Leads

5 mins Item 7
April Bald/Angie Fuller
Andy Opie/ Jade Hodgson
Mel Baker/ Jonathan Woodhams
Antony Rose
Melody Williams/ Hazel North-Stephens
Steve Thompson
Joanne Kitching/Jemma Breslin (cc Justine 
Henderson)

Wednesday 06 
December 2023

P
age 241



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 243

AGENDA ITEM 13a
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP

REPORT
Title: Youth Justice Service Board Subgroup Update 

Date: Wednesday June 29th 2022

Author: Angie Fuller, Head of Service, Adolescent and Youth Justice 
Service

Contact: Angie.fuller@lbbd.gov.uk

Security: UNPROTECTED

1. Brief Update

1.1 The Board has met twice during the last quarter, April 4th and May16th 2022. The 
meeting in May was a full day in person event. 

1.2 The April meeting focused on the following items:-

 Performance - The three key national indicators are all continuing to 
improve with custody figures at an all time low, however LBBD ratings in 
comparison with other London boroughs remains high

 First time entrants (FTE’s) has reduced in volume and rate in the last quarter 
which is positive but despite the long downward trend LBBD still has the 
third highest rate of FTE’s in London. Work such as YARM and joint working 
with police and the youth justice service in the out of court arena is assisting 
in continuing to reduce this number.

 Use of custody – LBBD has the fourth highest rate of custody within London 
despite the current numbers of children in custody being the lowest they 
have ever been. The service has implemented the resettlement panel to 
improve plans for children upon release from custody in order to reduce the 
number of young people who are at risk of returning to custody. Also robust 
bail packages and sentence recommendations to court as an alternative to 
custody continue to be offered to reduce the number of potential remands or 
children receiving a custodial sentence.

 Re-offending - Barking and Dagenham has a reoffending rate of 40.7% and, 
is slightly higher than the London average of 39.1% and is currently mid-
range out of all London boroughs when ranked in order. The service is now 
able to monitor its re-offending and start to predict potential re-offending 
through monthly re-offending tracker meetings to look back retrospectively 
as well as look forward to potential issues to address.

Page 245

AGENDA ITEM 13b



[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED]

 London accommodation pathway (LAP) – presentation to the board 
regarding the LAP and the potential impact that this can have to reduce 
remands to custody. Also raised some potential issues with regard to the 
continuation of the delivery of some specific services such as health as well 
as questions regarding risk management of our children being placed in a 
neighbouring authority. 

 Focus on the educational needs of children open to the youth justice 
service and an update of the work of the education worker in the 
service. The education worker and manager presented the education 
work piece which details what has been achieved in the past 6 months, 
and the steps of medium to long term goals.  The team are currently 
working on the following:-

 
 Good practice event / training 
 Individual case managers and team managers reports 
 Referral proforma 
 ETE Ms teams site  
 Use of existing ETE forums 
 Monthly ETE improvement panels  
 Case closures 

   
They are also hoping to work on collaborative approach work with new town 
culture, creative writing service and network college for London. 
The service is also managing a rag rating live cases tracker and will be 
updating on a monthly basis to have oversight of the 16+ as well as the pre 
16 children. 

1.3 The May meeting was a full day, in person event with board members, team 
managers from the YOS and young people in attendance, and focused on the 
following items:-

 The board response to the HMIP report on black and mixed heritage children 
experience in the youth justice system and developments and commitments 
needed to take this work forward. 

 The annual youth justice plan, focusing on the priorities for the board and the 
service for the next 12 months. This involved a series of workshops focusing 
on the four tenants of a child first approach and the national standards set for 
youth justice services with specific areas of focus for LBBD given the local 
issues faced by the service. 

 Creation of a new mission statement/vision for the service based on all of the 
reports, research and presentations the board have received as well as the 
views of children and young people given at the event. 

Page 246



[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED]

The experiences of black and mixed heritage boys in the youth justice system 
(justiceinspectorates.gov.uk)

2. Key Challenge(s)

2.1 The service is still working hard to fully understand the performance data and build 
dashboards to assist with this, which is improving but a recent loss of performance 
officer will impact this.  

2.2 Ensuring that there is QA support to assist with audits and QA as well as ensuring 
that the service is fully prepared for any future inspection under the current 
framework. 

3. Emerging Trends

3.1 No new trends to report at this time. 

4. Support required from CSP Board

4.1 Ongoing attendance and input from all partners is needed to ensure that the board 
is able to drive forward its priorities and actions. Some support in inspection 
preparation may be needed from partners

Page 247

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2021/10/The-experiences-of-black-and-mixed-heritage-boys-in-the-youth-justice-system-thematic-report-v1.0.pdf
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2021/10/The-experiences-of-black-and-mixed-heritage-boys-in-the-youth-justice-system-thematic-report-v1.0.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP

REPORT
Title: Contextual Safeguarding & Exploitation Subgroup 

Update 

Date: Wednesday 29th June 2022 

Author: April Bald – Operations Director – Children’s Care & Support 

Contact: April.bald@lbbd.gov.uk

Security: [UNPROTECTED]

1. Brief Update

1.1 The Cotextual Safeguarding and exploitation sub-group continues to work to ensure 
coordinated multi-agency responses to reduce experiences of significant harm such 
as child criminal & sexual exploitation and serious youth violence that tends to 
happen in contexts outside the family home i.e. within peer groups, schools 
settings, online and neighbourhoods. The subgroup has not met since it’s last 
meeting on 16 February 2022 , and is due to meet on 14 June 2022 .

1.2 The agenda for the forthcoming meeting includes hearing from a commissioned 
partner – Lifeline who offer early intervention and diversionary youth work to our 
vulnerable adolescents. They will deliver a presentation on their new SW!TCH 
Futures programme and the return of the Parents Champions group , a group of 
parents who have been affected by youth violence and exploitation who are able to 
offer peer support to other parents going through the same situation .

1.3 The Social Care Institute of excellence has been brought in to support the 
development of a Targeted Early help offer for children at risk of exploitation and 
SYV . They will join the meeting together with the Early Help Programme Lead 
drawing on the expertise of the partnership to shape the offer and model of help 
and support . 

1.4 The Young people’s safety summit was held on 5th May 2022 with 88 children 
attending from a variety of secondary schools. Members of the Sub-group joined 
tables working alongside the children . The Summit acts as a vehicle to explore 
contextual safeguarding with young people living in LLBD . Young people were 
asked to identify, discuss and record safe and unsafe spaces within online, school 
and community domains, with reasons also being recorded. They also explored a 
contextual safeguarding scenario centred around peer groups, which was designed 
by the University of Bedfordshire as part of the borough’s participation in the 
University’s Contextual Safeguarding pilot. For the school and community domains, 
maps of their schools and of the wider borough were used to facilitate discussion 

Page 249



[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED]

and record young people’s views. Presentations from Box Up Crime and Spark 2 
Life discussed the risks and impacts of serious youth violence, as well as helped 
signpost young people to local positive activity provision. The Fearless website and 
TootToot reporting app (which has been funded for all schools until 2023) were also 
presented to inform young people of safe ways they can report concerns. The 
Summit concluded with all young people recording one action they will take as a 
result of the session, one action they would like their school to take and one action 
they would like other organisations to take. These findings will be presented at the 
Subgroup on 14th , and our workplan going forward will be informed by what the 
young people are asking of us . 

1.5 The MASE (Missing and sexual exploitation) meeting continues to meet monthly 
and has a tactical and strategic focus on children at risk of sexual exploitation. The 
last meeting in May reported there are currently 29 children assessed as at risk of 
sexual exploitation, of which 90 % are girls with an average age of 15.4 years, with 
the youngest being 11 years . 38 % of the children are Looked after .62% have 
gone missing in the last 12 months, with an average of 5 missing episodes per 
child, however there are two children whose high level of going missing impacts on 
the average. The Missing Panel continues to keep oversight of our missing cohort, 
seeking to ensure best practice in working with children who go missing, as well as 
understanding the drivers for the missing episodes in order that we can best disrupt 
these from happening. For those children who were removed from the CSE list, 
they reported the following made the positive difference for them: improved 
relationships at home , getting back into education , motivation to find work . The 
meeting gave focus to persons and locations of concern and sought assurance that 
these were being addressed. 9 of the 42 children referred to the NRM panel were 
due to concerns in regard to sexual exploitation of which 6 received a Conclusive 
grounds decision.

1.6 The monthly CEG ( Criminal exploitation group ) continues to meet, and similar to 
MASE has a tactical focus  . The last meeting in May  heard that we have 33 
children known to Rescue and Response for running county lines . 94 % are male 
with an average age of 17 , whereas the female cohort average age is 15 years.27 
% are Looked after with 36% being Care leavers . 49% have a Missing episode with 
and average of 10 missing episodes per young person , however this average is 
high due to the fact two of the cohort make up 62 % of the missing episodes. The 
meeting heard a detailed presentation on these two young people . There are 76 
young people with a recorded NRM status due to trafficking through criminal 
exploitation . The young people removed from the list reported that services such 
as YARM , Sparks 2 life mentor , a consistent trusted relationship with their social 
worker and YOS worker ,together with being able to engage back in with education 
and having good friends to play football with made a positive difference . Parents 
benefitted from the support offered via a Child in Need plan which included being 
educated about exploitation and being supported in developing a safety plan . 26 of 
the young people subject to a County lines/ NRM list are known to our Youth 
offending service . They are known for a range of offences include Attempted 
Murder, GBH sec18, Conspiracy to Possess Firearms with intent to endanger, 
False Imprisonment, Robbery, Breach of Crown Court bail. 30% are either not in 
education, school refusers or have  irregular attendance . In terms of their mental 
health -19% of young people  had been known and were receiving therapy from 
CAMHS and there were 3 children who had been offered CAMHS appointments but 
had declined or not co-operated with the assessment. In addition to this list there 
are a number of children with ongoing challenges like insomnia (2), self-harm (5) 

Page 250



[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED]

dealing with bereavement (1). 89% use some form of drugs and 50% have grown 
up with domestic abuse in their family home, with 19% having a parent known for 
offending behaviours. 

1.7 This link to the Lost Hours website directs families and professionals through to the 
mapping of youth provision. This provides a range of positive diversionary 
programmes that are on offer for children and young people across the borough, 
both those funded by the council and funded externally. 
https://losthours.org/activities/ . Please note that this is reviewed on a quarterly 
basis to ensure that the information remains as up to date as possible

2. Support required from CSP Board

2.1 For the Board to note the content of the report .

Page 251

https://losthours.org/activities/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP 

Subgroup Update 
Subject: 

Hate Crime, Intolerance, Extremism and Tension Monitoring 
Subgroup Update 

Date: Wednesday 29 June 2022 

Author: Andy Opie, Director of Enforcement and Community Safety  

Contact: Andy.opie@lbbd.gov.uk 0208 227 3590 

Security: [Unprotected] 

1. Purpose of Presenting the Report and Decisions Required 

1.1 This report provides a quarterly update to the Community Safety Partnership on 
activity and work being undertaken by the London Borough of Barking and 
Dagenham (LBBD) Community Safety Partnership (CSP) Hate Crime, Intolerance 
and Extremism (HIE) and Tension Monitoring (TM) subgroup. 

2. Recommendation(s) 

2.1 It is recommended that the Community Safety Partnership Board: 

• Note the contents of this report. 

3. Update 

3.1 At the time of writing this report the HIE and TM subgroup last met on 5th May 2022. 
The subgroup is chaired by Andy Opie, Director of Enforcement and Community 
Safety.  

3.2 The HIE and TM subgroup is responsible for monitoring local tensions, analysing 
community activity and areas that may lead to potential tensions to understand their 
reasoning and identify the correct interventions. The areas in which the subgroup 
monitor on an ongoing basis are 

• Criminal tensions such as gang activity and anti-social behaviour 
• Community tensions and incidents between specific communities 

[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED] Page 253

AGENDA ITEM 13c



 
• National and International tensions that may potentially impact the local 

community 
• Political tensions because of extremism political activity including, leafleting 

and graffiti 
• Hate crimes due to sexual, racial, or religious beliefs 
• Any planned anniversaries and demonstrations 

3.3 The subgroup is focused on reviewing the Community Safety Partnership priority 
areas to help shape a forward plan to ensure the subgroup is delivering on priority 
areas set out within the plan. The subgroup will focus on the following agenda items;  
a) Tension reporting through schools and community settings. 
b) Support MPS with the implementation of discrimination free zones. 
c) Develop a framework for responding to incidents that can have a local impact, 

setting out how to respond. 
d) Review data sets on all forms of hate crime and incidents to inform targeted 

approaches to addressing levels of hate crimes and hate incidents 
e) Support delivery of the Prevent strategy 
f) Support with the development of the new Crime and Disorder Strategic 

Assessment (CDSA) and Community Safety Partnership Plan 
g) Reviewing service gaps and locality based data to support commissioning of 

local interventions and targeted work.  
h) Lead of the development of National Hate Crime Awareness Week comms plan 

3.4 At the May meeting the group received an update on the Prevent Strategy, with 
discussion about the crossover of the two agendas and a commitment to share 
information and collaborate.  The group reviewed the latest analysis of hate crime 
figures for the borough and had a presentation from Stop Hate UK, which identified 
that referrals into the service were low so more work is needed to raise its profile.

4. Key Challenge(s) 

4.1 The subgroup has identified challenges in receiving tensions within the 
community. This informed the work in setting up a local protocol which 
outlines when and how the council will engage with residents.  

5. Support required from CSP Board 

5.1 The Board to note the ongoing progresses agreed and set in place to monitor 
local tensions and hate related crimes.  

5.2 Support the development of the emergency planning response to national 
and local tensions.  

6. List of Appendices:  None 

  

Page 254



COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP

REPORT
Subject: IVOLT Subgroup Update

Date: Wednesday 21st June 2022

Author: Melissa Gilmour A/Insp Barking and Dagenham NPT, East Area 
BCU, Metropolitan Police

Contact: Melissa.gilmour@met.police.uk
  

Security: [UNPROTECTED]

1. Brief Update

1.1 The IVOLT (Victim, Offender, Location, Time) meets on a monthly basis. The 
IVOLT is chaired by the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) and looks at emerging 
trends, joint operations, geographical hotspots, demographics, licensing and other 
issues effecting Community Safety. The information used to monitor these topics 
is supplied from the Metropolitan police, London Fire Brigade and the Council.

1.2 The Metropolitan police supply data of who has been calling to report anti-social 
behaviour reporting on the higher frequency callers and their locations.

1.3 The London Fire Brigade supply data of fires that have been deliberately started 
across the borough

1.4 The Council supplies data from case files around individuals/ incidents.

1.5 For every issue raised including repeat victims/ complainants of anti-social 
behaviour a strategic action plan is decided on by the panel to resolve these 
issues using joined up resources from the partnership. This includes looking at 
what services need to be accessed by any given cohort to assist in their wellbeing.

1.6 This group is also responsible for monitoring and responding to all reported 
Community Triggers.

2. Key Challenge(s)

2.1 To address complex needs of complainants of anti-social behaviour including 
victims and perpetrators.

Page 255

AGENDA ITEM 13d

mailto:Melissa.gilmour@met.police.uk


[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED]

2.2 To reduce the number of calls received by police and Council to ease the pressure 
on services and the public purse.

2.3 To supply/ receive accurate data and to use this data in an informative and 
proactive way rather than reactive.

2.4 To ensure we are capturing all repeat callers and victims and that all can access 
our services.

2.5 To increase the reporting of anti-social behaviour and crime including hate crime.

2.6 To monitor MOPAC priorities, Non Domestic Violence With Injury, Robbery and 
Vehicle Crime

2.7 To improve and enhance customer satisfaction.

3. Emerging Trends

3.1 The number of repeat callers is reducing following partnership action plans put in 
place. This is especially true now that we are working closer with mental health 
services including a mental health police SPOC. - Currently repeat callers for ASB 
to police are very low and the last few months have seen an average of 0-2 
callers. This is the best in our BCU and very good compared to the rest of London 
as a result of the problem-solving work done by the IVOLT and participants.

3.2 Police continue to allocate resources to address gang activity and youth violence 
and work with the Council to use civil enforcement such as injunctions and closure 
orders to manage behaviour and mitigate risks to Community Safety. We also 
have further closure orders and eviction proceedings planned for addresses 
associated with gang/ criminal activity. 

3.3 Police and Council continue to work together to address unlicensed music events. 
Council have recently met with police to refine our Standard Operating Procedures 
to improve this process including ensuring the correct contact details are in both 
the Met police control room and the LBBD control room to strengthen 
communications and intel sharing around UME’s.

3.4 LBBD continue to participate in regular meetings with police and colleagues from 
Redbridge and Havering local authorities to address local priorities and issues in 
our BCU. This includes the new partnership meeting to discuss youth violence and 
share any relevant intelligence which currently meets 3 times a week.

3.5 Police have secured further funding for operations in and around Barking to 
address ASB and Crime, with a particular focus on violent crime, (particularly 
Robbery offences) and Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG).

3.6 Police continue to work in partnership with LBBD for joint operations to address 
ASB and crime in town centres.

3.7 The IVOLT has identified new hot spot areas for ASB and crime and are deploying 
resources accordingly to address these reports.

Page 256



[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED]

3.8 The police Environmental Visual Audit for Barking Town Centre has been 
completed and supplied to LBBD with appropriate recommendations to reduce 
ASB and crime in Barking Town Centre. A problem-solving group chaired by 
Enforcement and Community Safety has been formed and attendees include 
police, Community Safety, Parking, Regulatory Services, Lighting, My Place, 
Community Solutions, Be First, Public Realm and relevant commissioned services 
and voluntary sector to look at implementing any recommended actions from this 
report as detailed below.

3.9 The new police Barking town centre team started in December 2021 consisting of 
1 Inspector, 3 Sergeants and 21 PCs. This team are working closely with 
Community Safety to improve the safety of Barking town centre and have already 
had a large impact making multiple arrests and stop and searches. Community 
Safety and the Barking town centre police team continue to run joint operations to 
target crime trends. The next one is planned on Friday 24th June 2022 under Op 
Yamhill and targeting Robberies. 

3.10 Now that the new police Barking town centre team are operational it has allowed 
for resources from police and LBBD to be deployed to other areas of our borough 
increasing our ability to address ASB and crime in other locales. We are again 
completing a joint operation between Community Safety and police, including drug 
dogs, a Heathway tube station.

3.11 Licensing from both LBBD and Met police have been updating on any actions 
taken against licensed premises, updating on upcoming events in the borough and 
any forthcoming license applications.

3.12 Street Space Activation at Barking Station Parade was a pilot scheme 
commissioned to look at perceptions of safety and ASB with the aim to help 
people feel safer and happier in public spaces. This was funded by LBBD LCPF 
MOPAC money and implementation and delivery was monitored and supported by 
IVOLT.

3.13 The use of the new Metropolitan police initiative to issue early warning ASB 
notices to anybody found to be behaving in an anti-social manor has been re 
started by Metropolitan Police. These warning notices serve as an early 
intervention tool and can be issued by police officers and Council officers. There is 
a shared database between LBBD and police of anybody coming to notice via this 
method and a process is in place to ensure anybody who comes to notice twice 
gets a joint visit from police and Council to address their behaviour and what 
possible consequences could be as well as offering support and engagement with 
relevant services and partners if required. This project is now up and running 
again with both police and Community Safety Enforcement Officers issuing tickets 
and sharing relevant information.

3.14 LBBD PSPO’s in Barking Town Centre, Heathway and Broad Street, Dagenham 
have been renewed and new orders are now in place. 

3.15 LBBD Community Safety Enforcement Officers whose remit includes patrolling our 
PSPO areas (Barking Town Centre, Heathway and Broad Street), being a high 
visual presence and to engage with community particularly in areas where we 
have reports of anti-social behaviour have been patrolling with police at least once 
a week. Our Public Space ASB Caseworker has been leading on this work which 
has led to repeat offenders being identified and issued with Fixed Penalty Notices 

Page 257



[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED]

and Community Protection Warnings/ Notices allowing us as a partnership to 
manage their behaviour. It has also led to a huge increase in our intelligence 
around repeat offenders and their associations enabling us as a partnership to be 
able to form more robust action plans to both help vulnerable individuals and 
provide better protection and safety to the public.

3.16 The ASB team pilot is now an established team and after 6 months with 1 
Manager and 7 ASB officers to further improve our Community Safety offer to our 
residents both in the public space and at addresses regardless of tenure. So far, 
the team have improved our response time to complaints of ASB to 1.5 days on 
average, providing a dedicated service including one point of contact and has 
improved the customer journey for complainants of ASB.

3.17 Our funded police team, ‘Crime and Enforcement Taskforce’, have a new 3-year 
agreement with MOPAC until March 2025. This funded police team can continue 
its great work in responding to and concentrating on Council taskings for ASB and 
Community Safety which are allocated and discussed at a weekly meeting. 

3.18 Community Pay Back Team are now liaising with Community Safety to identify 
areas within the borough that could benefit from cleaning, painting and general 
improvement to help deter anti-social behaviour and crime. The railway crossings 
near St Awdry’s walk have already been highlighted and work begun.

3.19 The IVOLT group are monitoring the development and delivery of the Safe Haven 
Scheme. The scheme will work with residents to identify unsafe spaces to support 
the implementation of safe spaces with local businesses across the borough. 
Consultation is currently underway.

Police Environmental Visual Audits

3.20 Environmental Visual Audits (EVA) are used by the Police alongside other 
agencies to identify problems in the area such as litter, graffiti, vandalism, and fly-
tipping and make recommendations for crime reduction and improvement.

3.21 In July 2021, walkabouts took place in Barking Town Centre with Police and 
Council officers.

3.22 The Council received 3 reports from the Police with wide ranging 
recommendations for crime and disorder reduction, covering the areas of Barking 
Train Station / Station Parade, Wakering service road to rear of the shops, East 
Street / London Road. Included was a set of cross cutting licensing 
recommendations which relate to all areas.

Barking Town Centre Problem-Solving Group 

3.23 In September 2021, the Community Safety Partnership developed a Barking Town 
Centre Problem Solving Group to pick up the recommendations from the Police 
EVA and to capture existing work across the partnership. 

3.24 The meeting was chaired by the Operational Director for Enforcement and 
Community Safety, Andy Opie and a range of services in attendance including 
Parking, Licensing, BeFirst, ComSol, Community Safety and the Police.

Page 258



[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED]

3.25 Following the initial meeting, a Barking Town Centre Action Plan was created to 
capture both the work underway and planned work across the partnership 
(Appendix A) which highlights the tasks, action owners, timescales, and updates 
from each of the service areas about progress or issues. 

3.26 Positive feedback was shared at the meeting about the things we can do right now 
including licensing work, existing development projects, enforcement patrols, 
uplifting of trees.

3.27 The CCTV audit is also feeding into this work and new public space surveillance 
locations for Barking Town Centre have been identified. These installations will be 
included in the upgrade work of the surveillance service.

3.28 Concerns were shared at the meeting about areas of private land ownership and 
areas which are ear-marked for longer term development. Other concerns 
included that some of the planned work such as the Train Station Activation 
Project, were reliant upon external funding from Government.  

3.29 There were discussions about how to measure success, for example using crime 
data but feedback from businesses and residents will be important

3.30 The Group met again in January 2022 to further develop the action plan and agree 
a detailed set of actions to be taken forward, including joint licensing and trading 
standards work, lighting & CCTV, further enforcement signage, targeted patrols at 
London Road Car Park and a new Policing Team for the Town Centre with a 
significant resource uplift comprising 1 inspector, 3 sergeants and 27 PCs. 

Page 259



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 261

AGENDA ITEM 13e
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 263

AGENDA ITEM 13f
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 265

AGENDA ITEM 13g
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes - To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 8 December 2021
	4 Policing and Crime Plan 2021-2025
	Item 4 - Police and Crime Plan 2021-25 - Progress Update

	5 Street Space - Station Activation Findings
	Item 5b - Street Space - Activation Station CSP Presentation v5

	6 Rescue and Response Assessment
	Item 6 - Rescue and Response Strategic Assessment 2021
	Item 6b - R&R SA year 3 - Barking and Dagenham

	7 National Referral Mechanism (NRM) Update
	Item 7 - NRM Pilot Site Update - June 22

	8 RESTRICTED: Domestic Violence Update
	Item 8b- 220615 BDCSP VAWGSG TOR
	Item 8bi - 220615 BDCSP MARACSG TOR

	9 RESTRICTED; Crime and Disorder Strategic Assessment Plan
	Item 9b- SNB - Performance figures at April 2022

	10 RESTRICTED: Youth Safety Summit Findings
	Item 10b - Young Peoples Safety Summit

	12 Forward Plan
	Forward Plan 2020-22

	13a RESTRICTED: Performance Report
	13b Children and Young People
	Item 13bi - Contextual exploitation and exploitation_

	13c Hate, Intolerance and Extremism and Tension Monitoring
	13d IVOLT
	13e RESTRICTED: Managing Offenders
	13f RESTRICTED: Safer Neighbourhood Board Update
	13g RESTRICTED: Safeguarding Boards Update Report

	Button 8: 
	Page 1: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 44: 
	Page 45: 
	Page 46: 
	Page 47: 
	Page 48: 
	Page 49: 
	Page 50: 
	Page 54: 
	Page 55: 
	Page 56: 
	Page 59: 

	Button 9: 
	Page 1: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 44: 
	Page 45: 
	Page 46: 
	Page 47: 
	Page 48: 
	Page 49: 
	Page 50: 
	Page 54: 
	Page 55: 
	Page 56: 
	Page 59: 

	Button 10: 
	Page 1: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 44: 
	Page 45: 
	Page 46: 
	Page 47: 
	Page 48: 
	Page 49: 
	Page 50: 
	Page 54: 
	Page 55: 
	Page 56: 
	Page 59: 

	Button 11: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 
	Page 51: 
	Page 52: 
	Page 53: 
	Page 57: 

	Button 12: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 
	Page 51: 
	Page 52: 
	Page 53: 
	Page 57: 

	Button 13: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 
	Page 51: 
	Page 52: 
	Page 53: 
	Page 57: 

	Button 23: 
	Button 24: 
	Button 25: 
	Button 17: 
	Button 18: 
	Button 19: 
	Button 20: 
	Button 21: 
	Button 22: 
	Button 29: 
	Button 30: 
	Button 31: 


